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P R O C E E D I N G S

MR. PRESIDENT:

Good morning. 

Good morning, Colonel. 

THE WITNESS:

Good morning, Mr. President.

MR. HIVON:

Good morning, Your Honours, I would like to put on the record the absence of General Kabiligi. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much. 

Your testimony continues, Mâitre Constant. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Thank you Mr. President. 

First of all, I would like to inform the Chamber of a problem that may arise.  I do not want us to discuss it now, but I would like the Bench to reflect on it.  

In the final analysis, Major MacNeil will be from the 23 to the 27th of the month ‑‑ 23 to 27 of this month.  

I would like to specify that because of the time difference, 23 to 25, rather, because of the time difference we will be beginning at 8 o'clock in the morning Canadian time.  That will correspond to 
4 p.m. Arusha time, so there may be a problem, namely, to know up to when we shall continue. 

The last problem, you would note, that 25th or 25 is a Friday.  Therefore, we should also examine this issue of Friday afternoon. 
I just wanted to inform the Chamber of the present state of affairs and the problems that may arise. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.  

The time difference was also mentioned in an email we received last week, I remember, and we certainly have to come back to that, so thank you for drawing our attention to that. 

Please proceed. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, I had a document distributed, a document which was not in the folder.  It deals with the so‑called Bagosora commission. 

THÉONESTE BAGOSORA,
EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF (continued)
BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, yesterday you talked about Mr. Gasana, who was minister of defence.  Do you remember that? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
This is an excerpt of Mr. Gasana's book which I want to show you and, thereafter, I will ask your view on it ‑‑ your view concerning the report part of which we discussed yesterday. 

In this excerpt, General Gasana, or, rather, Minister Gasana said the following:  "The genocidaire intention of the military commission lacks evidence that they would be at the level of the seriousness of such an accusation or charge." 

I will skip the next sentence, which refers to Major Cyiza.  And Gasana continues by saying that we should also point out that Habyarimana had strictly forbidden the office of the report to publish it outside the members of the commission to avoid hurting his chiefs of staff ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

It is too fast.  

Now start again.  Start again from “Signalons”.  It's impossible to follow in the translation and the transcripts.  

Can you please read again very slowly from “Signalons”?
MR. CONSTANT:

Every morning I think I should learn to adapt to the pace.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Let us say ‑‑ well, he said that Habyarimana had strictly forgotten ‑‑ forbidden, rather, the office of the report ‑‑ of making that report known outside the members of the commission to avoid hurting his deputy chiefs of staff; namely Serubuga, and Rwagafilita who were severely criticised in that report. 

On the basis of this excerpt, yesterday when you presented the complete content thereof, you said that a number of recommendations were made in your report, but do you confirm or rebut the information to the effect that the deputy chiefs of staff were severely criticised in the report? 

A.
I confirm that information, but he failed to add that the director of cabinet of the minister of defence at that time, Colonel Rusatira – Rusatira -- we criticised the three main deputies of the minister of defence, and the chief of staff of the Rwandan army.  In that report, we justified while, or, rather, why we were criticising his three deputies. 

Q.
Can you tell us why you were criticising them? 

A.
First of all, regarding Colonel Serubuga, he had been in that position since 1973, and here we are dealing with 1991.  So he had been too long in his position.  Furthermore, he was not abreast of the innovations.  He could not carry out the necessary reform of the armed forces. 

Similarly, Colonel Rwagafilita, Célestin, was chief of staff of the gendarmerie.  He had been in that position since 1982.  Another time, we held a meeting in 1991.  He had been in that position for nine to ten years.  Rusatira ‑‑ Rusatira had been in his post since 1970, and he continued being in that post until 1991.  In other words, he had occupied that post for 21 years. 

So we were saying ‑‑ we were telling the minister of defence and president of the republic that his assistants from the moment that they had opinions on their tenures, that opinions on their tenures ‑‑ or individuals, we were saying that those officers will never be able to correct, or, rather, that those junior officers will never enjoy their rights with the same officers in place. 

In other words, if you have a chief who, after one or two years, tells that you are a bad staff, five years later on it will be very difficult for him to say that you are a good staff, even if, in the meantime, you have changed for the better.  So from the moment that these bosses had some fixed opinions on some of their junior staff and since they had to hold ‑‑ be with their bosses for over ten years, we were telling the president and chief of staff that it was necessary to change the people in command, so that ‑‑ first of all, those persons ‑‑ those persons in command should move and learn something else and that other staff be promoted so as to give them the opportunity to learn.  That the junior staff should not always have to face the same bosses for many years, bosses who have fixed opinions which are not necessarily favourable to their juniors. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Let us try to make the answers briefer, even if there is much information to be conveyed.  Shall we do that?  

Next question. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Another question I would put to you in this regard.  Yesterday, we considered document P. 13, a number of chapters in that document were examined.  It is dealing with the conclusions of the commission.  Now, in this excerpt, we do not find any criticism concerning Mr. Serubuga, 

Mr. Rwagafilita and Rusatira? 

A.
That is correct.  The portion of the document in the excerpt is the chapter dealing with the enemy situation.  It is that chapter that you have there before you.  Whereas the ‑‑ the friendly situation was ‑‑ the friendly situation was the portion that con ‑‑ or that dealt with the criticisms ‑‑ the armed forces, its weaknesses and failures, and what had to be corrected.  These were described in the portion that dealt with the friendly situation, and you do not have the excerpt dealing with the friendly situation. 

Q.
In view of what Mr. Gasana has written in his book, and in view of what is contained in this document, that is, document P. 13, one, there ‑‑ therefore, take it that James Gasana read the whole report?  

A.
Certainly, yes, because yesterday I told you that the president of the republic in January 1992 had summoned a meeting of the commission together with the new minister of defence, that is, 

Colonel Ndindiliyimana.  Colonel Ndindiliyimana was dismissed in April 1992.  He handed over to his replacement, that is, James Gasana. James Gasana, therefore, had the two copies of the report I mentioned to you yesterday. 

Q.
We'll come back to the details later. 

But you become ‑‑ you became director of cabinet in June 1992 and the letter was distributed in September 1992. From June 1992 to September 1992, did you see this document?  I mean, the report of the conclusions.  Did you see this document between June and September 1992? 

A.
Yes, I saw it. 

Q.
And were you asked questions about it? 

A.
It is the new minister, Gasana, who called me in his office, so that I should explain to him the context in which the commission was set up, the atmosphere in which we worked, and the basis on which we reached the conclusions that were contained in the report.  All of this was intended to enable him meaningfully to explore the report. 

Q.
Around what period ‑‑ around when did that discussion take place? 

A.
I would not consider that a discussion. In fact, he called me to give him information ‑‑ information regarding how we worked and also to explain to him some passages which he could not clearly understand.  This was around September 1992. 

Q.
These questions and answers, were they related to the chapters that deal with the identification and the definition of the enemy? 

A.
No, they dealt with the entire report.  The report comprised about 30 pages, if my memory serves me right.  He asked me questions on whichever chapt ‑‑ chapter he wanted.  There were six chapters.  He asked me questions and I answered.  We did not have a discussion.  He would ask for clarifications where he had difficulties understanding what we meant. 

Q.
I'm sorry, once more, I will ask the same question.  These questions of clarification, were they related to issues of identification and definition of the enemy? 

A.
No. 

Q.
During the discussion you had were you informed that your report or document would be published or circulated? 

A.
No, that must have been in early September.  In September, rather, at the end of September, I was in Ethiopia.  I was not in Rwanda. 

Q.
I'm sorry, Colonel, my question is the following.  We'll come back to where you were at the end of September.  I know that the letter that circulated ‑‑ the document is dated 21 September.  My question is:  Whether the discussion you -- or in that discussion you had with Mr. Gasana he told you that that document was going to be circulated? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Yesterday, you told us ‑‑ I'm sorry.
THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says Defence counsel.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I'm going to rephrase my question or I will come back a little. 

We had a witness, Witness LE1, you see whom I'm referring to? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
I will try give ‑‑ to give you some information, but which will not reveal the identity of that witness.  The said witness said that he had a discussion with President Habyarimana in 1992, and I will not come back to what the discussion was about. 

Now, during the said discussion Habyarimana allegedly told him that he had read the report and that he thought it was very carefully done work ‑‑ a carefully prepared report but that there were personal issues raised in the report, and that he himself ‑‑ President Habyarimana was also criticised in the report.  Do you remember that? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
Do you have any comments to make on that point?  

A.
Regarding the president of the republic, we made criticisms, criticisms concerning him.  We told him that he had to set up a joint chiefs of staff, in fact, we wanted to tell him that he could not be president of the republic, minister of defence, and chief of staff at the same time. 

At the time we made this proposal, we recommended that he set up a joint chiefs of staff.  So we were asking him to reduce his posts, especially for a chief who since the 1970s had to be used to exercising or occupying several posts, this was an affront. 

Secondly, regarding his deputy chiefs of staff and his director of cabinet we expressed the same criticisms by saying, or, rather, by asking or, rather, we'd said that those people had been occupying those posts for about 20 years and they were preventing younger officers from advancing.  We said that that manner of proceeding discouraged people in their military careers, that they blocked promotions, that they don't want to give way to young people to give them the opportunity to prove themselves, and that they were impeding the development of the armed forces. 

I do not remember the exact terms that I used, but the main thing was to tell them ‑‑ was to tell the president of the republic that he should stop being chief of staff ‑‑ chief of staff.  He should stop being minister of defence and president of the republic at the same time. That these two positions, namely, that of chief of staff of the army and minister of defence should be given to other people.  Furthermore, that those who were occupying certain positions should be replaced because they were tired.  They'd been in those positions for too long. 

Q.
This witness makes reference to the fact that there was the perception that there was ‑‑ there were personal issues.  Do you have an idea what this corresponds to? 

A.
It is because I was chairman of the commission.  I told you that when I returned from war college, it was said that I was going to become chief of staff.  I did not become chief of staff.  So some authorities thought that I was the one who used the commission to achieve what was denied me.  I think this is the ‑‑ the interpretation that should be given to. 

Q.
Yesterday, when we dealt with the issue of the letter, I'm  no longer talking about the document, but rather the letter, the letter of 21 September ‑‑ that is, document P.13 you said that at that time you did not see the letter.  Did I understand you correctly? 

A.
Are you referring to the ex ‑‑ excerpt?  

Q.
Yes, I'm referring to the excerpt as well as the letter dated 21 September.  

A.
Yes, I told you that, you understood me correctly. 

Q.
Can you explain how ‑‑ at that time, you were director of cabinet and even if Minister Gasana said that he recorded that letter as soon as possible ‑‑ how come that you were not aware? 

A.
If the letter is dated 21 September, I think it was not signed on that very day, and it was circulated ‑‑ or, it was not circulated the same day.  Perhaps it was circulated the following day or a day ‑‑ or two days after.  But the fact is that I was absent from the country from the 23rd of September to the 29th of September 1992.  I was on mission in Ethiopia.  Therefore, I was not able to follow up what happened during that period. 

Q.
But is it not surprising that when you returned on the 29th, Minister Gasana came to tell you that there is a problem because a letter had been circulated or that your friends in the army came to tell you that a letter had been circulated.  Is it not surprising ‑‑ is it not surprising that members of the ‑‑ members of the committee contacted you, telling you that a document that should have remained secret was circulated.  

A.
Well, this issue of circulation was not much talked about.  It wasn't much talked about because I tried to make verifications ‑‑ to obtain information in order to know whether the excerpt ‑‑ the letter, rather, had been made public by Rwandan newspapers.  I did not find any newspaper except one which has been tendered into an exhibit here.  That newspaper talked about Colonel Déogratias Nsabimana, it is in Kinyarwanda, and that newspaper made reference to the circulation of that letter, so Rwandan newspapers did not publish the text of the letter. 

The local radios, it was ‑‑ it was Radio Rwanda, RTLM had not yet been created, so the local radio, Radio Rwanda, did not talk about it.  At the ministry of defence, it was no event, nobody, in fact, talked to me about this letter at the ministry of defence.  Sincerely speaking, I was not aware that there had been a problem. 

Q.
Do you mean to say that you were not aware of the problem that occurred between James Gasana and the chief of staff regarding the fact that this letter was made public? 

A.
That is, indeed, correct. 

Q.
Yesterday at the end of session you explained ‑‑ rather, when I asked you whether the circulation of that letter could, as the indictment alleges, lead to hatred and ethnic violence, you answered at length that whatever be the case the said document was not supposed to be circulated or made public.  Do you mean to say by that, that, if, indeed, the letter was made public it could cause violence and ethnic hatred? 

A.
I say no to that question.  I say no, but it was necessary for that letter to be read with some intelligence.  People with evil intention could misinterpret it, but for someone who read it in good faith, it ‑‑ the letter could not be the cause of inter‑ethnic conflict.  All the more so as yesterday, as I did underscore, the enemy was not all the Tutsi.  The enemy was only a few Tutsis who attacked.  The ‑‑ the population in Rwanda knew very well that it was the Tutsi of the diaspora who attacked.  If you told them that, they would say, yes, that is true.  They knew very well it was the Tutsi of the diaspora that had attacked. If you tell them that it was the Tutsi of the RPF who attacked and that the Tutsi within the country, who did not participate in the attack, were not enemies, I think that would be correct and that eliminates any possibility of confusion. 

Q.
A point of clarification, even if this relates to another period in the indictment.  In point 58 of the indictment you are charged, as well as Major Ntabakuze, of having made utterances identifying the ‑‑ of identi ‑‑ or identi ‑‑ making the Hutsi (sic) ‑‑ of the opposition similar to the Tutsi enemies.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Can you repeat your question, Mr. Constant?  We didn't get it clearly. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
On point 58 of the indictment the following is written:  

"As from 1993, Colonel Théoneste Bagosora and Aloys Ntabakuze made statements wherein they identified the enemy as the Tutsi, and their sympathisers as the Hutu in the opposition."  

This paragraph of the indictment follows the comment made on the commission that we just talked about.  My question now is the following:  Do you confirm or refute that in 1993 you made such statements? 

A.
My answer is no, but I would also add the following.  We should be logical.  If we talked about it then we also talked about what we did in the report.  We should have fully reported what we did in our commission report.  So I'm saying no, we did not make these statements.  And even if we had to talk about these matters, we would have reflected what was contained in our report. 

Q.
Another question on this.  There is a witness, DPY, who came here ‑‑ DBY, sorry.  I do not want to mention the conditions under which he came here because that would lead to his identification, but that witness, DBY, talked about a telegram ‑‑ a telegram which ‑‑ a telegram which allegedly came from the ministry of defence and which telegram stated that the enemy was the Tutsi.  Do you remember that testimony? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
Did you send or dispatch such a telegram? 

A.
First of all, I would like to know the period concerned.  When?  I do not remember the date of the telegram.  If I did, I perhaps may be able to know whether I sent it or not. 

Q.
Does it mean that at some point in time you sent a telegram? 

A.
No.  Maybe the telegram was sent at the time I had not yet arrived there, or if it was during the period when I was there, or perhaps during the period when I was here in mission at Arusha. I would, first of all, like to know when that period, or, rather, the period when that telegram was sent. 

Q.
I would like us to slow down. 

I'm sorry to tell you that the witness in question does not specify the period.  We know that it is in 1992 or 1993 that he apparently saw the telegram.  When he was ‑‑ when he gave his testimony ‑‑ testimony, he was asked:  "How do we know that he was not the one ‑‑ you are not the one who sent the telegram?"  

He said that he did not know.  That he made a deduction because you were the one directing the ministry of defence at that time.  

A.
That telegram was not sent and if it had to be sent it should have been sent by the minister of defence, James Gasana.  And as you know, James Gasana wrote a book and he wrongly attributed to me the lies in his book, but he does not mention this telegram. 

Q.
Witness, DBY, without giving specific references, was in Kanombe camp.  Could MINADEF have sent messages of that nature directly to Kanombe camp? 

A.
No. 

Q.
And why?  Why not? 

A.
The control centre, the transmission centre ‑‑ I do not know whether we explained this with Witness DA, the transmission centre of the Rwandan army was at headquarters.  The ministry of defence had only a secondary transmission centre.  Messages that had to go from the ministry of defence to the units had to necessarily transit through the main transmission centre of the Rwandan army headquarters. 

Furthermore, at the level of the hierarchy, as I also explained, the ministry of defence could not skip the army headquarters and give instruc ‑‑ instructions directly to Kanombe camp. 

Q.
Do you have something else to add concerning this document or the commission because I intend to move to another series of questions. 

A.
Gasana's book, I read it.  He says ‑‑ this is not on the ‑‑ the document you've given me, I think it's in the earlier page.  In that page he says that the main aim of the commission was not to identify the enemy.  The main aim of the commission was the organisation of the armed forces.  And it is for that reason that you see here, in the excerpt that you have given me, that is where he says that we criticised the sitting chiefs, that we were saying that the army is not properly organised or commanded and that the present chiefs had to be replaced.  That is what I wanted to add. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court how you became aware of your appointment as director of cabinet of the ministry of defence? 

A.
A telegram was sent through the army general staff and copied for information purposes to Kanombe camp letting me know that I had become the director of cabinet.  But on that message there were other officers who, at the same time, and on the same date, had been appointed to other duties. 

Q.
Do you mean that your appointment was one amongst many other appointments? 

A.
My transfer was decided, I think, by the cabinet meeting of the 9th of June 1992.  If I can have that document then I will show you all the other officers who, at the same time, and on the same date, were appointed to other duties. 

Q.
I will show you the document. 

MR. CONSTANT:

One moment, Mr. President.
THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says counsel. 

MR. CONSTANT:

I'm sorry, there is a technical problem I have.

BY MR. CONSTANT:  

Q.
I would like to know whether, before the information became official, that you had been appointed?  You had already been contacted?  

A.
No.  I said no. 

Q.
Now, according to you was that appointment a promotion or otherwise? 

A.
I can say yes and no because a soldier really loves commanding other soldiers, and at that level I would say that I was losing my command.  I was a commanding officer of the most important camp in the republic.  I had about 3,000 soldiers under my command.  I was better off there.  But being the director of cabinet is a social promotion.  I really was not very warm about it, but it was a social promotion. 

Q.
Very well. There are two things which are asserted, amongst others, by Ms. Des Forges, but also by other so‑called Rwandan specialists.   Firstly, that you actually bribed ‑‑ I'm sorry for using this expression -- Colonel Sagatwa to be able to enjoy extension of career as director of cabinet.  Do you have any comment to make to that? 

A.
My answer is no.  I read such an account but fortunately the Prosecutor gave us the minutes of the ministerial council meeting of the 9th June 1992, which appointed me amongst others.  That was very clear.  It said, firstly, that I was going to enjoy a one‑year extension of service. It is on that 9th of June decision.  Subsequently, I was being appointed director of cabinet in the ministry of defence.  It is in that decision.  On the 9th June 1992, before I was in the ministry of defence, I was a distance away.  I was at Kanombe.  I was a commanding officer of that camp.  I learnt that I had been appointed director of cabinet only after the cabinet meeting of the 9th of June, so I could not have bribed whosoever. 

Q.
However, there is some other idea raised that your appointment was to make up for the departure of Messrs Serubuga and Rwagafilita. 

In other words, what the specialists are saying is that you are an extremist, two extremists will be eased out; and, in order to make up for the departure of the two extremists, President Habyarimana insisted that you be appointed directeur de cabinet.  That is what is written by Ms. Des Forges and also 
Mr. Gasana, amongst others.  Do you have any comments to make? 

A.
Once again, I will refer to the report of the cabinet meeting, of the date I had already referred to.   It was not President Habyarimana who chaired that cabinet meeting that appointed me.  There was a multiparty transitional government in place, and the prime minister, Mr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye was a member of an opposition party, the MR ‑‑ the MDR party.  And also, the person who supported my nomination in that government was Mr. James Gasana.  During the cabinet meeting the decision was made to appoint me director of cabinet.  President Habyarimana was not there.  I think that is mere speculation. 

MR. CONSTANT:

With the leave of the Court, I would like for certain documents to be given to Mr. Bagosora. 

Let me inform the Court that these documents are document 2, 3, 4 of the new list, the folder given yesterday. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have the documents, Colonel?
A.
Yes, sir, there are two excerpts of official gazettes. 

Q.
Do you have them, sir? 

A.
There is an excerpt of the official gazette, and there is a decision of a cabinet meeting. 

Q.
Unless there is a problem in the dispatch, can you confirm or otherwise that there are two different excerpts of official gazettes which are clipped together? 

A.
Yes, sir. 

Q.
Very well.  Now, let's look at the one of the 15th of August 1992?  Do you have it?

A.
Yes sir. 

Q.
Kindly look for your name in that document, and then tell me specifically what it is all about? 

A.
Well, I can see my name.  If you look at the third paragraph, my name is there. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court what is in that paragraph? 

A.
According to that paragraph, Colonel Théoneste Bagosora's retirement has been deferred to the 30th of June 1993 for service proposals, and this is from the date of signing of the order. 

Q.
Can you confirm or otherwise that the official gazettes in Rwanda were public documents, not secret documents? 

A.
They were not secret documents, they were public. 

Q.
So that means that that excerpt of the presidential order was known from the date of publication of the official gazette; correct? 

A.
Correct. 

Q.
Now, kindly go to the second excerpt of the official gazette and give a date to it for me? 

A.
The date is 15th of November 1992. 

Q.
Very well.  Can you see your name on that excerpt? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
If you go to paragraph 3, can you tell us what it is all about? 

A.
According to the paragraph, by presidential order number 342/06 of the 2nd of September 1992, Colonel Théoneste Bagosora, force number 0017, is hereby appointed director of cabinet in the ministry of defence.  I think the order entered into effect from the 6th of June 1992. 

Q.
Now, let us go to the third document.

MR. CONSTANT:

And I would like to advise the Chamber that that document has one page missing, and I have asked my team member to go and look for it because it starts with K0503351 and ends with 356.  But, I hope that in the meantime that slight problem will be sorted out. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, what I would like to know is this ‑‑ this document which has the confidential stamp on it, can you tell this Court when you became familiar with that document? 

A.
Personally, I saw this document for the first time here. 

Q.
Very well. Do you mean here? 

A.
Yes, in the course of my trial, I was only aware of what was published in the official gazette, but cabinet decisions I was not privy to. 

Q.
Try to give us a time reference.  When you say "here" because we know you were in Arusha for the talks in 1992‑1993.   Was it during that period? 

A.
It was the Office of the Prosecutor that disclosed that document to me.  But ‑‑ 

Q.
Colonel, I still do not know exactly when or approximately when you became familiar with the document? 

A.
Well, I think you should ask the Prosecutor. 

Q.
To make things simple, did you became ‑‑ did you become familiar with this document since you were detained? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Was it from the time your trial started? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
So it means you became aware of this document after 2002? 

A.
Quite so. 

Q.
Thank you, sir. 

Please tell this Court what is the title of this document? 

A.
Let me read.  "Decision of the cabinet meeting held on the 9th of June 1992."

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Counsel spoke with the microphone off. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. Diallo ‑‑ I'm sorry, or, Mr. Matemanga, I'm sorry, I did not know that Mr. Diallo was no longer in the courtroom.  Kindly distribute this document.  This document has page 56 ‑‑ the Honourable Court will certainly understand the importance of that last page. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, kindly read for us the first subparagraph of that confidential document. 

A.
"This meeting which took place at the 5th of July Hotel, and which was chaired by the prime minister, had the following items on its agenda."

Q.
From your understanding of the workings of government, since you were director of cabinet for some time, who usually chaired cabinet meetings? 

A.
The prime minister and on occasion the president of the republic. 

Q.
And in this document is there any mention of the presence of the president of the republic? 

A.
Of course not, because if it is said it was chaired by the prime minister, it means that the president was not present. 

Q.
Also, kindly tell us whether you have your name mentioned with regard to this document ‑‑ but before that, tell us or identify for us the presentation given by this document concerning the purpose of the meeting and it starts with "considérer" in French.  

A.
I can see it.  Do you want me to read it?  

Q.
Yes, please.  

A.
"Considering that there is an urgent need to conduct restructuring and supervision work within the army, and within the spirit of the policy speech concerning the streamlining of state services, the cabinet meeting has decided to carry out the following changes in the ministry of defence."

Q.
Without you reading, but in a nutshell, there is a series of decisions which follow concerning the staff headquarters and the schools.  Can you tell us those who are concerned? 

A.
Colonel Déogratias Nsabimana is appointed army chief of staff.  Colonel Augustin Ndindiliyimana is appointed gendarmerie chief of staff.  Colonel Léonidas Rusatira is appointed commanding officer of the École supérieure militaire.  Colonel Marcel Gatsinzi is appointed commanding officer of the non‑commissioned officers' school. Then there is point 2, the internal services of the minister of defence. 

Q.
Can you tell us what comes after point 2? 

A.
Colonel Théoneste Bagosora has been awarded a one‑year extension of service and is appointed director of cabinet in the ministry of defence. 

Q.
Do you remember the discussion yesterday with regard to the term used by the Office of the Prosecutor, extremist and moderate Tut ‑‑ Hutus? 

A.
Yes, I remember that. 

Q.
I remember that you rebutted that usage, but the idea which is implied in Gasana and Des Forges' works is that all those who are above and who are appointed as chiefs of staff were moderate Hutus, and you are appointed director of cabinet because you are an extremist.  Now, at the time when this took place, were you given that version of the events or facts?  I'm referring to 1992, sir.  

A.
Honestly, I didn't quite understand your question. 

Q.
What I mean is that today people like Des Forges ‑‑ Prosecution expert witnesses say that your appointment as director of cabinet was because you were an extremist and it was to offset the appointment of moderate Hutus to head the various staff headquarters in the army.  

A.
I'm aware of that argument but it is wrong. 

Q.
Now, my question is this:  With regard to the terms used, moderate Hutus or extremists Hutus, yesterday it was said that certain members of the commission were referred to as moderate.  If we take the people appointed to head the staff headquarters in this document, was Déogratias Nsabimana considered a moderate?  Or did he claim to be a moderate at that time? 

A.
Not at all. 

Q.
Was Colonel Ndindiliyimana in the same situation or not? 

A.
Not at all. 

Q.
Now let me rephrase the question I put to you a while ago and which you didn't understand.  

In 1992, were you told, or was it rumoured, or were many people known that you were appointed because you're an extremist as experts of the Prosecutor claimed today?

A.
Not at all. 

Q.
Now, let us go to the penultimate and the last pages, that is, page 5 of the document.  Has that document been given to you, the new one? 

A.
No ‑‑ oh, yes. 

Q.
You realise that there's a page 6.  Kindly tell this Court what is on page 5? 

A.
Page 5 contains the ministers who attended that cabinet meeting which took that decision. 

Q.
Fine.  Apart from their names, is there any other mention regarding those ministers? 

A.
There is the name of the ministers, as well as their ministries, and then they sign. 

Q.
Now, let us go to page 6.  Tell us which name comes last? 

A.
The last name is that of the defence minister, James Gasana. 

Q.
From the top and in reference to what you told us yesterday, and for which the president sought clarifications, can you tell us what was the position of the fourth minister, his name, and tell us whether or not he signed? 

A.
That was Landouald Ndasingwa, minister of labour and social affairs and he did sign. 

Q.
From what you know about the Rwandan situation in 1992, be it on page 5 or on page 6, can you tell us which ministers were not of the presidential camp? 

A.
I will start with the first one.  Boniface Ngulinzira who was the minister of foreign affairs and cooperation. The third Stanislas Mbonampeka was the minister of justice.  He was of the PL party, whereas Boniface Ngulinzira was of the MDR. 

You have Frédéric Nzamurambaho, who was of the PSD party.  He was minister of agriculture and livestock.  Agathe Uwilingiyimana of the MDR party; minister of primary and secondary education.  
Marc Rugenera of the PSD party; he was minister of finance.  Landouald Ndasingwa of the PL party; he was minister of labour and social affairs.  Félicien Gatabazi of the PSD party.  He was minister of public works and power.  That's all. 

Q.
Do we agree, sir, that in this report there is no reservation (sic) whatsoever made by any minister pertaining to your extension of service and your appointment as director of cabinet? 

A.
It is clearly stated here that this was a decision made by the ministers and all those who attended that cabinet meeting signed. 

Q.
To end, in this ‑‑ can you go to page 2?  There is a fourth point, can you see it, sir? 

A.
Yes, sir. 

Q.
Kindly read it for us, sir? 

A.
"Colonel Nshizirungu been granted a one‑year extension of service and appointed defence and security advisor to the prime minister.  Nshizirungu is spelt, N‑S‑H‑I‑Z‑I‑R‑U‑N‑G‑U. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Defence counsel made a mistake in the spelling, and now the witness is correcting. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Thank you for correcting me, Colonel. 

Do you know that colonel? 

A.
I know him very well.  We were batch mates.  We were of the third batch. 

Q.
And do you know what has become of that fellow today? 

A.
I think that today he is a senator in the RPF regime in Kigali. 

Q.
What was his duty or position at that time before his appointment?  Can you tell us, if you remember? 

A.
I cannot really remember.  He once worked in the ministry of defence.  He had once been operations commander in Byumba secteur.  I cannot remember exactly where he was at that time. 

Q.
You said that he, too, was your batch mate?  

A.
Correct. 

Q.
Does that mean you were all of the same age? 

A.
More or less. 

Q.
Let us say something briefly about this issue of retirement.  According to army regulations when were you supposed to be retired? 

A.
According to the rules and regulations for a junior officer, that is up to the rank of commander, it was 45 years, and for senior officers, it was 50 years.  For general officers, it was 55 years. 

Q.
I'm sorry.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says Defence counsel. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
When did you turn 50? 

A.
I turned 50 on the 16th of August 1991.

(Pages 1 to 15 by Jean Baigent)
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
And why were you not retired on that date? 

A.
Well, it was during the war, and the defence minister sent a telegram to all units saying that all departures for retirement or extended leave were stayed until further notice. 

Q.
So, that extension, which were granted you by virtue of the order of 15th of August 1992, the one year extension you enjoyed, what did it warrant?  What was it warranted by? 

A.
At the time, we had a president of the republic who doubled as minister of defence and tripled as chief of staff, and he decided to suspend retirement for everybody from private to colonel.  However, we didn't ‑‑ at the same time, negotiations were going on, so people started thinking that the war would be brought to an end.  Then there was a multiparty system which set in, so it was necessary to streamline central administration and the armed forces.  The retirement of the deputy chiefs of staff came in as part of this streamlining of army cadres.  The president of the republic was already aware of the report that we had.  The report clearly stated that the deputy chiefs of staff and the director of cabinet had to be replaced.  And the multiparty government, in connection with the streamlining of army cadres, sent those people on retirement. 

Now, since negotiations were ongoing, the war was not yet over.  There was an extension of service for the officers who were still needed.  It was against that backdrop that my service was extended.  It was because they deemed it necessary for me to remain, that I was still useful, and I fulfilled the criteria of the officers they wanted to use during that period. 

Q.
Still on page 2 of the document.  You talked about retirement.  Do you find any reference to that? 

A.
Page 2?  I did not clearly understand your question.  I am sorry.  

Q.
Have you seen page 2 of the document? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
You just talked about those who were retired.  Do you have this ‑‑ do you see where this is written in the document in paragraph 3, the earlier paragraph?  And there are six colonels and lieutenant colonels who were retired; is that right? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Do we agree this list includes Colonel Serubuga?  For the purposes of the record, can you state what his post was?  

A.
He was the deputy chief of staff of the army. 

Q.
And Colonel Rwagafilita, what was he? 

A.
He was the deputy chief of staff of the gendarmerie. 

Q.
Colonel, do you mean to say that the coalition government implemented the recommendations made by the committee that you chaired?  

A.
In my opinion, yes.  

Q.
Now, according to you, is this related to the fact you were appointed director of cabinet? 

A.
I think this was a crucial criterion. 

Q.
You told us that the report drawn up by the commissions was viewed as an affront by the president of the republic.  

A.
Yes, this is true. 

Q.
According to you, in this context, would he ‑‑ would you be the person he would have chosen as his dem ‑‑ sword, as his shield in the position of director of cabinet? 

A.
I asked myself that question.  I do not see, if the position had been made, how he could to think it. 

Q.
According to you, the position of director of cabinet of the minister of defence, is it a military position, a political position, or both military and political position? 

A.
It was more political than military. 

Q.
We talked of Colonel Nshizirungu.  Was he in the same situation as you were, that is, from an administrative standpoint? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you say what it means to be the prime minister's adviser in matters of defence and security? 

A.
The minister of defence had an adviser for technical and military matters.  The prime minister headed ‑‑ or was the boss of all the ministers, including the minister of defence.  Therefore, he needed someone who was familiar with how the armed forces functioned.  He needed such a person near him.  That was, therefore, the role of this colonel. 

MR. CONSTANT: 

Mr. President, since I am going to continue, I think it is necessary to now tender these three documents, namely, the excerpt of the official gazette of 15 August 1992. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, shall we have the two excerpts in one exhibit?  

Mr. Matemanga, the next number is?  

MR. MATEMANGA: 
D. B225. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
A and B for the two of them?
(Exhibit No. D. B225A and D. B225B admitted)

MR. CONSTANT:
Yes, I propose A for the official gazette of 15 August, and B for the one of 15 November.  But both these documents should be a single document relating to the decisions taken by the cabinet meeting.  

I would like to say that this ranges from K0050351 to K0050356.  In the first version that I distributed to you, we did not have the second page containing the signatures.  
I believe my colleague Drew White wants to speak.  

MR. WHITE:

If it please the Court, the Prosecution is in possession of a translation of this confidential – decisions taken at the cabinet meeting, pages K0337372 through 76, and I can provide that to the Chamber now.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
That's very good.  Yes, please do.  

Now, do you want this confidential as C or as 226, Mr. Constant?  It doesn't really matter, does it?  

MR. CONSTANT: 

I prefer that this be a separate document.  It is rather special. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

So that becomes D. B226A for the French and B for the English translation to be provided by the Prosecution.  Thank you very much. 

(Exhibit No. D. B226A and D. B226B admitted)
BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, regarding what happened from 1992 to 1994, there is an idea to the effect that you were opposed to the authority of your minister, James Gasana.  Are you aware of that rumour? 

A.
It is false. 

Q.
It is even alleged that you caused his departure in July 1993 because you were amongst those who threatened him with death. 

A.
That is false, also.  

Q.
Can you tell the Court what your relations with Mr. James Gasana were? 

A.
They were normal relations. 

Q.
To your knowledge, whether in your capacity as colonel in active duty or in your capacity as director of cabinet, while Mr. Gasana was minister of defence, were you the subject of any disciplinary measures? 

A.
No, not even once.  

Q.
Are you aware of any correspondence addressed to you reproaching you for your conduct? 

A.
No, not even once. 

Q.
How, therefore, do you explain that today the Prosecutor's experts, and even Gasana, argue that you were hostile to him, that is, to James Gasana? 

A.
Minister Gasana, that is, James Gasana was minister of defence from April '92 to 20 July 1993.  He went into exile in Switzerland.  On arrival there, he was questioned.  He was questioned on the period of his tenure.  And he was asked why during the period when he was minister mention is made of the distribution of weapons, the death squadrons, even though he was of the MRND party.  Mention is also made of the Interahamwe militia.  

Now, he was explaining himself before judicial ‑‑ or giving explanations before judicial authorities, and it is at that time he started saying, yes, weapons were distributed but he was not the one, that it was his director of cabinet who had weapons distributed without his knowledge.  He said, no, he was not the one who distributed weapons, because they also tried to kill him.  In fact, he sought to justify why he fled.  

I do not have the statement he gave to French judicial authorities regarding what happened in Rwanda, but he stated that he had fled because an Interahamwe ‑‑ or Interahamwe militia terrorised him ‑‑ an Interahamwe militiaman terrorised him.  He gave the name of that person.  So if we can have the statement given by Gasana to the French parliamentary commission, that is what he says in that statement.  He says why he fled.  However, during his ‑‑ or, rather, when he was questioned in Switzerland, he tried to justify why certain things did not work during his tenure, and he said that it was his director of cabinet who was against him.  

But if you want to look at matters objectively, in fact, I did not live with Gasana in the ministry of defence.  Throughout the month of December I was here in Arusha from the 16th of March until the 25th of June 1993, I was here in Arusha.  Throughout the month of July, I was in Kinihira for the negotiations, and I learnt that he had fled while I was there in Kinihira.  And it was the RPF who informed me that my minister had left.  In fact, I was not together with this person, therefore, we cannot say that I was hostile to him.  

In any case, records are available.  He never in any manner whatsoever, he never gave me a query regarding any errors I may have committed.  So what he said concerning me while he was abroad ‑‑ in any case, he is not the only person who had adopted such a conduct.  What I ‑‑ what he said about me is to justify his conduct, why he fled and why ‑‑ regarding the things he is responsible for.  

Furthermore, he was the Prosecutor's witness.  He was a witness who would have been important for the Prosecution to come and testify to those events.  I do not know what happened and why he did not come.  Of course, he has avoided confrontation.  

Q.
Colonel, the difficulty we have is that there are records, but, as you know, Kigali authorities have not allowed you access to the records.  Now, my question is precise.  You are saying that you are not responsible for Gasana's departure.  You have explained why.  You explained why he said certain things he said.  But how do you explain that other persons like Ms. Des Forges adopt the same position? 

A.
It is Gasana who is informing Des Forges.  Gasana refers to Des Forges and Des Forges refers to Gasana.  They are one and the same.  They are one person, so to speak.  But the person who should have spoken and who was the Prosecutor's witness was Gasana, but he did not come.  

I asked you to go and see Mr. Gasana so that he should be called to appear before this Court.  You know the answer he gave you.  He refused to even receive you.  

Q.
Another point, Colonel.  You remember ‑‑ do you remember Witness DM25? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
We are going to be cautious when talking about this witness to avoid his being identified.  

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Now, I am going to quote from an excerpt during ‑‑ I am going to quote an excerpt of his testimony in cross‑examination.  The English version is not good.  Early this afternoon I will give ‑‑ the references for the English version are not correct.  I will give you the correct references at the beginning of this afternoon.  For the records, the French version is dated Tuesday, 12th April, page 87, line 7.  12 April 2005, that is the date on the French version.  

I asked the witness the following question -- I cannot read the question because it would lead to his being identified, but in a nutshell, I asked him whether, to his knowledge, you committed any excesses, any acts of ultra vires when you were director of cabinet.  This was his answer, talking about you: "That is correct.  He wanted more power, and I discussed this with Minister Gasana, who was somebody who liked to do a lot.  And apparently he did not give enough leeway to his director of cabinet who wanted to do even more.  There was that conflict, but I do not think -- in any case, Gasana did not talk to me about a situation where Mr. Bagosora may have committed any acts of ultra vires regarding matters entrusted to him in the ministry.  But Bagosora did want to occupy too much space, and this did not go down too well with Minister Gasana."  Do you remember this utterance, this statement by the witness? 

A.
Yes, I do.  I remember it.  

Q.
Do you have any comments to make regarding this answer given by that witness? 

A.
I think that to some extent what he is saying is true.  Minister Gasana was appointed to the minister of defence.  He was a civilian and he thought -- maybe this may have been a complex ‑‑ a complex due to the fact that he did not know too much about the armed forces.  And perhaps he may have thought that I could rely on my broader knowledge in matters military, and on that basis, take decisions or influence the services of the ministry and thus, in some manner, reduce his authority over those he commanded.   

It was soldiers who worked in the ministry of defence.  I was a colonel, and he was saying, well, this colonel who is commanding here ‑‑ commanding soldiers, he has authority over them.  I am a civilian, and he may command them to such an extent that I will only be a figurehead.  In fact, he had that worry.  And that is why, in addition to the position of director of cabinet of the ministry of defence, which position was official, he issued a letter of clarification stating how the ministry of defence should function, especially in his absence.  So, therefore, in order to make sure that I did not go beyond my powers, and also to ensure that the junior officers were aware of the limits of my authority over them, he issued a letter.  He gave instructions, written instructions in the form of a letter.  That letter specified how the ministry of defence had to function during the absence of the minister.  I believe this is the reason.  But it was not a personal conflict.  It was not a conflict between him and I.  It is not because we disagreed on anything.  No, it was his concern.  It was his worry over this specific point. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Microphone, please.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
You mentioned the statement given by Minister Gasana to the French commission ‑‑ in fact, it is not a commission ‑‑ the French mission, rather, sent by the national assembly. 

MR. CONSTANT: 

Can the Colonel be given document D. K8?  

The Chamber would see that I am now referring to the generalities in this document D. K ‑‑ but it is in the next paragraph, especially as Colonel Bagosora talked about it.  So I want to dispose of this question immediately.  Document D. K, with the colonel, is Minister Gasana's statement given to the French mission.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have the document? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you go to page 51 of that document, please? 

A.
Yes, I have found it.  

Q.
You would say that the penultimate paragraph begins with a paragraph on James Gasana? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you read the sentence for me, please ‑‑ for the Bench? 

A.
I am sorry, were you talking about page 51?  

Q.
Yes, normally there is number 51 there.  

A.
Handwritten?  

Q.
Handwritten.  

A.
It is the third paragraph.  

Q.
No, I told you the last but one paragraph? 

A.
Yes, I have seen the paragraph. 

Q.
Can you read the sentence ‑‑ or, rather, the two sentences that follow? 

A.
"James Gasana made sure that, so long as he was in power, everybody he could control in the units and the services was controlled by him.  Moreover, it is that control that was at the origin of his difficulties because it was so close that even Colonel Bagosora was subject to that control."  

Q.
What are your comments on that? 

A.
Well, he is saying what he did.  He did what he had to do.  But I would like to take advantage of this to show you that ‑‑ to show you what made him leave.  

Q.
Yes.  Please, go ahead.

A.
On page 50, paragraph 2, can I read?  

Q.
Yes, please do. 

A.
Regarding his departure from Rwanda, he said ‑‑ 

Q.
Slow down, please.

A.
He said that his presence was considered a problem for one of the most important ministers of the Interahamwe group, that at the beginning of the year, 1993, that minister found himself compelled, like others, to comply with the rules of good conduct.  At that time, over 100 of his members were in detention waiting for the court to make decisions concerning them.  Pressure was being exerted to ensure their release, but he categorically refused that the gendarme should release them ‑‑ the gendarmerie should release them before the courts made their decisions.  He thought that this minister was at the origin of the threats that were made against him.  

Q.
(Microphones overlapping)…I am sorry. 
A.
-- militia.

Q.
Why are you making this reminder, Colonel? 

A.
I am making it because according to what you just told me and what I heard later on, it is said that I was the one who threatened him and made him leave.  That is not true.  He said something different.  

Q.
Have you finished with this document? 

A.
Yes, as far as I am concerned. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court what you did?  What were your duties as director of cabinet? 

A.
My duties were defined by presidential order or decree.  I do not know the number of that order, but I can summarise what those duties were.  But if you want to know exactly what my duties were, it will be proper for me to have the presidential order. 

Q.
I propose that you give us a summary of your duties, and thereafter I will give you the presidential order.
A.
The director of cabinet was responsible for coordinating the activities of the cabinet of the minister.  He was responsible for coordinating the activities of the minister’s advisers.  He was responsible for supervising the work done by ‑‑ or the work going on in the secretariat, as well as the activities of the information service.  In the absence of the minister, he replaced him with respect to routine matters.  In short, he did not have power over the chiefs of ‑‑ over service heads.  Therefore, he did not have power over the chief of staff.  He did not have power, even over the service heads in the ministry of defence. 

Q.
Thank you, Colonel.  

MR. CONSTANT:
Two things:  Can Mr. Matemanga give D. B4 to Colonel Bagosora?  Then I have the English version of the excerpt of DM25.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q,
Do you have that exhibit, Colonel?  Kindly identify it for us, please.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The colonel's microphone is off.  

THE WITNESS:

It is actually excerpts of the official gazette of 15th of November 1992. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Please go to the second page of that document.
A.
I am there, sir. 

Q.
Very well.  Kindly tell us what we have on top.  

A.
"Ministry of national defence."  

Q.
Before we come back to this, taking into account the fact that on top of that excerpt we have 1366, kindly go to 1368.  

A.
I am there, sir.  

Q.
Very well.  There is a date on the bottom.  Can you tell us what it is? 

A.
Kigali, 28th of August 1992.  

Q.
And there are some names? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Kindly tell us what they are, for the record?  

A.
Prime minister Dr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye; to the left, minister of public service, Prosper Mugiraneza; minister of national defence, James Gasana; minister of finance, Marc Rugenera; then minister of justice, Stanislas Mbonampeka.  

Q.
Mbonampeka is number 71 on the spelling list.  I do not think there is any other difficulty regarding the other names. 

Colonel, tell us, amongst those five signatories, which of them are of the opposition and with are of the presidential camp? 

A.
From the opposition, we have the prime minister, Dismas Nsengiyaremye, Marc Rugenera was finance minister, and justice minister, Stanislas Mbonampeka.  

Q.
This document signed by five minister, three of which are of the opposition ‑‑ or, I should say, not of the presidential camp.  What does the document concern?  Kindly tell this Court.  

A.
Actually, it is the organisation of the ministry of defence.  And there it details the duties of the services of that ministry. 

Q.
Can you zero in on what is the allusion to the director of cabinet?  

A.
That is page 1766 on top, directly on top.  

Q.
You have already summarised that.  Now, what I would like you to confirm or otherwise is whether amongst your duties, as spelt out in that decision, there are any operational duties as a soldier, either over the gendarmerie or over the army? 

A.
No, sir. 

Q.
On the bottom of that list, it is mentioned, "Any other duty assigned him by the minister." As far as you know, did the minister at any given point in time assign you the duty of exercising powers over the staff headquarters of the army or that of the gendarmerie for that matter? 

A.
In this regard, my duties as you have here were spelt out. 

Q.
Again in the letter we have talked about, that letter which you talked about which we are going to revisit which is P. 246, was a letter which he wrote spelling out your duties in his absence? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Now, I am referring to the last paragraph concerning your duties, "Any other duty assigned to you by the minister."  Do you see what I am talking about? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Now, I am asking you whether Gasana or, after him, Bizimana assigned you any operational duties, even in their absence? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Now let us go to the last page of that document.  Can you tell us what it is about? 

A.
On the last page, page 1769.  That is the organisation chart of the minister of defence. 

Q.
I would have liked for you to comment on it, but it will be simpler both for those in this courtroom and for those in the public gallery for the document to be on the overhead monitor.  With the leave of the President, of course.   

And, Colonel, if you can move to the overhead monitor, that would make life easier.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Shall we zoom in, please?  Thank you.  Will you adjust the perspective?  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I think we should be able to see the entire document or preferably the two‑thirds above in order for us to be able on understand properly.  Very fine.  Very fine.  No, no, what I want is the reverse.  I want an overhead.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

We had a glimpse of it a couple of seconds ago.  Now that's fine.  Keep it like that for a moment.  Yes.

MR. CONSTANT.

Absolutely.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, on this organisation chart, show for us where your position is.
A.
This is where my position is.  

Q.
Very well.  Indicate for us where -- the duties of staff headquarters for the gendarmerie and the Rwandan army? 

A.
This is where the staff headquarters for the Rwandan army were and where the staff headquarters were of the Rwandan gendarmerie were. 

Q.
Can you explain why there is no direct linkage between the staff headquarters and you, by way of lines? 

A.
The minister's cabinet or office was a political office.  It has no linkage with the armed forces.  Its role is to support and assist the minister to take decisions, so it has no linkage with armed forces. 

Q.
When we look at the minister's box, we see that from the minister there are lines leading to the army headquarters and the gendarmerie headquarters.  Kindly tell us what that means, according to you. 

A.
It means that it is the minister personally who is the head of the army, the gendarmerie, the École supérieure militaire, or military academy, and the noncommissioned officers' school.  

Q.
Now, go on the bottom of the screen.  I do not know whether we will be able to see it, but in any case, when you move from the minister, going down, there is a position.  Do you see what I am talking about? 

A.
Yes, there is a director general. 

Q.
Very well.  What I would like to know is whether that position of director general existed at the time you were in that ministry? 

A.
At the time I was director of cabinet in the ministry of defence, there was no person appointed to occupy that position.  
Q.
From 1992 to 1994 no one had been appointed to that position. 

A.
No, sir. 

Q.
If someone had been appointed what would have been his duty? 

A.
His duty would have been to supervise the services below, which you can see. 

Q.
Kindly take it up so that we can see clearly what he supervises very well.  We have a glimpse, but can you tell us the people ‑‑ officers he was supervising?  

A.
In the first box on the left‑hand side he supervises a department of administrative and legal affairs, the department of financial affairs, the department for ex‑servicemen and social affairs, and, lastly, the department for external state security.  

Q.
Very well.  Since no one had been appointed to occupy that position, who supervised those services? 

A.
It was the minister himself. 

Q.
Very well.  The people under your orders, that is, if we go back upwards, the adviser for political and administrative affairs and secretariat, those people were under your orders? 

A.
Correct, sir. 

Q.
Now, kindly go back to your seat.  I would prefer that D. B164 be given to you.  And let me remind you that D. B164 is exactly the same organisation chart except that Witness A08 gave names of people. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  We have to stop now for the 11 o'clock break, and then when we resume, the Chamber will sit under 15 bis until lunch.  The Court is adjourned.  

(Court recessed from 1050H to 1125H) 

JUDGE REDDY: 

Yes, as the President indicated, the Chamber will sit under 15 bis between now and one o'clock.  

Yes, Mr. Constant.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Thank you, Mr. President.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, we were talking about the functioning of MINADEF and we had just made comments regarding Exhibit D. B4 and I had requested that Exhibit D. B164 be given to you.  I do not know whether you have it.  

A.
I do not have it. 

MR. CONSTANT: 

Mr. Matemanga, kindly give that document to Colonel Bagosora, with the leave of the president.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Exhibit D. B164 is a document which is more or less the same as the last page of D. B4, that is, the organisation charts, but it mentions the names of the people occupying the positions.  Colonel, while waiting for the document to be given to you, I have an additional question regarding the organisation of your work.  Do you have the exhibit? 

A.
I have it. 

Q.
Very well.  I simply want you to tell this Court whether the situation was exactly the same as the one described by Witness A08 with regard to the officials of MINADEF on the eve of the 6th of April.  Do you understand what I am talking about? 

A.
Yes, sir. 

Q.
Very well.  We are not going to revisit all the positions given that this document is in evidence.  I simply want you to tell us whether all those people whose names are on that document correspond to what you remember. 

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
However, I would like you to tell us what has happened to those various people today.  

I am starting with the minister of the time, that is, the eve of the 6th of April, because we know that Mr. Gasana left in July 1993.  Minister Bizimana, can you tell us what you know about his current situation? 

A.
I learnt that he was in Congo, Brazzaville, but that he is reported to have been ‑‑ to have died. 

Q.
And concerning the chief of staff, Mr. Nsabimana? 

A.
He died on the 6th of April in President Habyarimana's plane crash, during the attack against President Habyarimana's plane. 

Q.
And Mr. Ndindiliyimana? 

A.
Mr. Ndindiliyimana is a detainee here at the UNDF. 

Q.
And Mr. Rusatira, who was the commanding officer of the École supérieure militaire?  

A.
He is a refugee in Europe.  

Q.
Mr. Marcel Gatsinzi, who was the commanding officer of the sub‑commissioned officers' school? 

A.
He is the defence minister in the RPF government in Kigali. 

Q.
Mr. Balthazar Ndengeyinka, who was external affairs adviser? 

A.
He is a refugee in Switzerland. 

Q.
Can you tell us, since 1994, he has been a refugee in Switzerland? 

A.
No.  In 1994 he fled with us up to Goma.  A few days afterwards in the same year,  he joined the RPF army and subsequently fled.  

Q.
Mr. Emmanuel Nzeyimana who was the central secretary, administration, what was ‑‑ or what is his current position? 

A.
I have learnt that he is in prison in Kigali. 

Q.
Mr. Augustin Munyakayanza, who was at the public relations division? 

A.
I learnt that he is reported to be in Congo, Brazzaville, 

Q.
Concerning the current situation of Pierre Claver Karangwa, who was at the info‑doc division? 

A.
He is a refugee in the Netherlands.  

Q.
Mr. Edouard Hakizimana, who was at the military cooperation division? 

A.
He is a refugee in Belgium. 

Q.
Mr. Munyaruguru, Emmanuel, who was of the studies, planning and training division? 

A.
He's a refugee in Europe, I believe in Sweden.  

Q.
And what about Mr. Rutayisire? 

A.
He is a refugee somewhere in Europe, I think, probably in Belgium. 

Q.
And Mr. Munyengango, who was in the department for ex‑servicemen? 

A.
He died in 1994. 

Q.
Mr. Kayumba? 

A.
Mr. Kayumba is a refugee in France. 

Q.
Lastly, Mr. Ndibwami? 

A.
He is in Rwanda right now.  

Q.
Can you tell us what he is doing in Rwanda? 

A.
When the RPF took over power, he was absorbed in the RPF army.  He was chief of staff of the gendarmerie.  Afterwards, he was retired when he reached the age limit.  

Q.
Very well.  Concerning the situation of all those personalities, do you have an opinion regarding their various political leanings before April 1994? 

A.
Well, I did not see anything about 1994.  What I could see was that they were officers, and these officers had to remain apolitical.  It is obvious that they had relationships.  Officer of the centre and south ‑‑ since they had family members they were in a political environment of the opposition, it could be said that they were close to the opposition on account of the prevailing environment at the time.  Northern officers, since they had family members, relatives, and brothers, who were members of parties like the MRND, it could be said they were close to the MRND party.  Similarly, the other préfectures in which a party dominated, since they had relatives and parents in those parties, it could be said that those people tended to be referred to as people close to those parties, without necessarily being members of the parties.  So those people could be categorised on the basis of their region and the dominant parties in their regions, unless there is a specific case which you would like to point out.  

Q.
Let me specify my idea.  In the indictment, and I will try to get the reference, it is said that Mr. Bizimana said that MINADEF was an MRND ministry and that the MRND could do whatever it wanted to do therein.  So what I would like you to do is whether, from what you know of that ministry, and on account of your responsibilities then, whether there were people who could be considered as pro‑opposition people, and if such were the case, kindly give us their names?  

A.
I can mention Rusatira, Léondas.  It was said that he was close to the MDR.  Personally, I thought he was close to the RPF.  Gatsinzi, until the 6th of April, it wasn't possible to know his leanings.  It wasn't possible to know which party he sympathised with.  Ndengeyinka ‑‑ Ndengeyinka, about him it was said he was close to the MDR.  Regarding the other officers following, I cannot give any opinion.  But if you  go to the bottom of the page among the service heads, Ndibwami ‑‑ Ndibwami, on the 6th of April, was among those ‑‑ among those who were discontented in the regime because he had been imprisoned or a long time following the assassination of Colonel Mayuya.  So he was one of those who was up happy with the Habyarimana regime.  He was considered close to the opposition, but I do not know which opposition party he was close to.  

Rutayisire was close to the PSD.  He was the brother‑in‑law of Minister Gatabazi who himself was a member of the PSD.  He was close to this minister.  He was really not a member of the party, but he was close, a sympathiser of the party.  For the others, who are not many, as you can see, it was said that they were close to the MRND, that they were close to the president's camp.  

Q.
The reference concerning Bizimana and the fact that the ministry was an MRND ministry, this is contained in 4 – 5.30 of the indictment.  Now, is it ‑‑ can it be imagined that decisions could be taken in this ministry which was headed by an MRND minister without opposition parties or other parties that formed the government being aware?  

A.
That was not possible because I have shown you that out of the four service heads, half of them were close to the opposition parties.  Regarding decisions taken in the ministry of defence, you have the minister's adviser.  The minister's adviser followed up whatever happened in the ministry, and nothing could be done without him being aware.  

If there was something to be pointed out, Ndengeyinka could not be unaware, because he was the min ‑‑ adviser to the minister of defence and he monitored everything.

MR. CONSTANT:

Can the witness be given document P. 246, with the leave of the President of the Court?

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
In the meantime, point of explanation:  Colonel Rutayisire was the director of the external security of the state.  What were the exact duties of that position?  

A.
The central intelligence service, when the coalition government was set up in April 1992 ‑‑ well, the central intelligence service was abolished in the president's office.  That service was then divided into three parts:  Internal intelligence was put under the prime minister's office; external intelligence was put under the ministry of defence; and the immigration service was put under the ministry of the interior.  This means that Colonel Rutayisire dealt with all intelligence relating to the republic, that is, external intelligence ‑‑ intelligence coming from outside sources.  I do not know how to elaborate on this, but everything concerning the republic and coming from outside, was referred to him.  He was in charge.  

Q.
You are saying that internal intelligence came from under the prime minister? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
We agree that the prime minister belonged to an opposition party? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
With respect to external intelligence, you are saying that Mr. Rutayisire was close to opposition parties? 

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
So be it internal intelligence or external intelligence, both of them, both types of intelligence, came under the opposition parties.  Do you have document P. 246? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
Can you identify it to the Court? 

A.
It is the directive I talked to you about a short while ago.  It is the directive that was addressed to me by the minister of defence.  It deals with the functioning of MINADEF services in his absence. 

Q.
Can you say the date of this correspondence? 

A.
It is 27 January 1993. 

Q.
Can you go to page 3 and clearly identify who signed this document? 

A.
It is the minister of defence, Dr. James Gasana. 

Q.
Next to his signature, can you tell the Court what is written? 

A.
"Copy for information purposes, chief of staff of the Rwandan army, chief of staff of the national gendarmerie, commander of the military academy, the ESM, all the ministers' advisers, all directors in the ministry of defence, all heads of division in the ministry of defence." 

Q.
I am sorry, can you ‑‑ can we go back to page 1?  Above "director of cabinet," there are certain things written there; what is that?  Rather, below that, below "director of cabinet," what is written?  
(Pages 16 to 29 by Judith Baverstock)
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THE WITNESS:

Yes, we have information so that the directive is given for purposes of information to his excellency of the president of Republic of Rwanda in Kigali, his excellency, the prime minister in Kigali.  

BY MR. CONSTANT: 

Q.
Do you know whether or not the circular was sent for information to all the people you just mentioned?  

A.
I cannot say that it wasn't sent.  I had my copy.  I, therefore, suppose that the others also received their copies.  

Q.
Are you in a position to explain to the Court the context in which Mr. Gasana wrote this directive? 

A.
After the signing of the protocol agreement of 9 January 1993, there was a problem concerning the head of delegation. 

Q.
I'm sorry.  Which protocol agreement are you referring to, and which delegation are you referring to? 

A.
There is a delegation that came here to Arusha to negotiate the Arusha Peace Accords, and it was the protocol agreement on the sharing of power on the basis of the Arusha Accords that were signed on 

9 January 1993.  At that time, the head of delegation, Mr. Boniface Ngulinzira, was not accepted, in particular, by the people in the president's camp, because they said ‑‑ that is, the people in the president's camp said that he had not properly negotiated that phase of the negotiations on the accords.  And the presidential camp requested that since we were going into a delicate phase of the negotiations, which consisted of negotiating the integration of the armed ‑‑ of troops in the armed forces, that it should be the minister of defence, Mr. James Gasana, of the ‑‑ of the MDR party who should be in charge of this portion of the negotiations ‑‑ of the MRND party who should be in charge of this portion of the negotiations.  And that is how he was designated to replace Mr. Ngulinzira, Boniface.  

It is in view of this that before leaving, he issued this directive to me for the purpose of delineating my powers during his absence from Rwanda.  I think that is the context. 

Q.
Ngulinzira, Boniface, is number 95.  

We are going to come back to greater detail, but can you tell us whether, indeed, Mr. James Gasana effectively left, and if yes, from when to when?  

A.
Mr. James Gasana came here to Arusha on mission.  He was here from 31 January 1993, and he returned on 13 February of the same year, that is, he returned the following month. 

Q.
Why did he not stay in Arusha? 

A.
At the time he arrived in Arusha, the RPF attacked.  That was on the 8th of February.  The 8th of February 1993, the RPF attacked in the north, in the préfectures of Byumba and Ruhengeri.  The negotiations were consequently suspended, so he returned to Kigali. 

Q.
I would like to draw your attention to this note, especially to a certain number of points that we will discuss.  Now let us go to page 2.  There is a small B on that page.  Can you tell the Court what this is about?  And if need be, after reading it, please, we need your comments.  

A.
Small B, "Intelligence and security.  Apart from authorisations issued for acquiring and keeping firearms that have already been approved, any other authorisation for the acquisition of firearms must be expressly given by the minister." 

Q.
What does that mean? 

A.
This means that during his absence, during the minister's absence, I did not have the right to issue authorisations for the acquisition and holding or possession of firearms to anyone whatsoever. 

Q.
Another question:  Which service in the ministry of defence was in charge of studying applications for the acquisition and possession of firearms? 

A.
It was a service that came under Colonel Rutayisire, who was director of the external security of the state, Colonel Rutayisire. 

Q.
What was the relationship between the acquisition and possession of arms and the external intelligence matters? 

A.
The department of external ‑‑ in that department, that is, the department in charge of internal intelligence, there was a division.  Well, there is a box that has been omitted here, the fourth box.  That box concerns the subdivision in that department.  That the said subdivision also ‑‑ or, rather, the department also had a subdivision in charge of regulations governing the possession of weapons or firearms in the Republic of Rwanda. 

Q.
Colonel, would that be the division called "division in charge of weapons and explosives control"? 

A.
Yes.  On the other organisation chart you have that. 

Q.
Is that the division you find in the order published on 15 November 1992? 

A.
That is entirely correct. 

Q.
You are saying that it was that division which was in charge; is that right? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Apart from authorisation for the acquisition and possession of firearms, which were ‑‑ well, rather, what was meant by already approved authorisations for the acquisition and possession of firearms? 

A.
That meant that the director of the external security of the state, his service, all applications for the acquisition or possession of firearms were sent to that department for its opinion.  Once that department put its opinion on the file, on the application, whether it was a favourable or an unfavourable opinion, the file was then sent to the minister for decision.  The minister then would put on the application, where he thought that it was necessary, approved.  For example, if there was an application for arms by a commune or a business enterprise which wanted to have weapons in order to protect its enterprise or company, he would put on the application "approved," that is, on the same letter ‑‑ that is, on the application itself.  The application then would be returned to the director of the external security of the state, and then the necessary forms would be filled in, forms relating to the acquisition and possessions of the weapons sought. 

There were people who asked the army to lend them weapons.  The minister would put his approval on the application.  He would send the application to the service concerned, which I've already mentioned to you, and that service would write a letter, either to the gendarmerie chief of staff or to the army chief of staff, telling them that such and such a person, such and such a company, such and such a commune has asked for so many weapons.  The minister has given his approval.  The minister signed those approvals.  Therefore, the authorisations referred to here followed this entire procedure.  It was after that procedure that the minister signed the applications.  This, therefore, means that all applications which had not been processed and which had not been submitted to his approval before his departure, those applications were shelved until he returned.  That is what is meant here.  

Q.
I would like us to now go on to another aspect of this document.  This is small C, dealing with organisation and operations.  I would like you to read the second subparagraph beginning with military operations.  

A.
"Military operations or operations for the maintenance of law and order come under the competence and the sole responsibility of the chief of staff concerned.  Any order for operations or any directive for operations coming from the minister's cabinet must be given in writing and must be the outcome of a consultation meeting between the director of cabinet, directors in the ministry of defence, the minister's advisers, and the chief of staff concerned." 

Q.
Can you now explain what this meant?  To be more precise, what had ‑‑ what was necessary for an operational order to be given, either to the army or the gendarmerie? 

A.
This means that if a situation arose where the minister, in his absence ‑‑ or, rather, where the director of cabinet has ‑‑ had to issue orders in the absence of the minister, he ‑‑ if, for example, the director of cabinet had to give orders to the army, he, the director, first of all, had to convene a meeting.  He had to meet with the heads of the army and gendarmerie.  That meeting also had to be attended by the various directors in the ministry of defence, as well as by the minister's advisers.  After the said meeting and consultations, and in a written report, which report had to be signed by those present at the meeting, I could rely on that report.  I could rely on that decision to issue an order, an order to the staff headquarters concerned.  

Q.
Does that preclude the possibility of oral orders? 

A.
Certainly.  Absolutely.  

Q.
Do you confirm or deny that the chief of staff and the ‑‑ all those who had to attend the meeting were you aware of this process?  

A.
We noticed that ‑‑ we noticed that ‑‑ well, the ‑‑ the letter ‑‑ this letter was addressed to them.  In any case, they received copies for information.  We received it.  

Q.
Question:  Can you move on to page 3?  There is a point which reads "miscellaneous".  

A.
Yes, I have seen it. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court what it is about? 

A.
Can I read?  

Q.
Yes.  

A.
"The director of cabinet may summon and chair meetings of chiefs of staff and all directors in the ministry of defence.  The said meetings must be the subject of a report approved by all participants at such meetings.  The directors concerned by the items on the agenda shall attend the meetings." 

Q.
What does that mean?  Do you have any comments to make? 

A.
Yes.  That meant that I, director of cabinet, in the absence of the minister and in the event of need, I could summon a meeting, a meeting bringing together the two chiefs of staff and the service heads in the ministry of defence so as to discuss or exchange views on a given situation. 

Q.
Did that ever happen? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court when that happened? 

A.
That did not happen during the period ‑‑ or during Gasana's tenure.  But this happened on the 

6th of April 1994, following the attack against the president's plane.  The minister of defence, Mr. Bizimana, Augustin, was on mission in Cameroon. 

Q.
Can you slow down, please?  

A.
I am saying that on the 6th of April 1994, Minister Bizimana, Augustin, was on mission in Cameroon.  The president had fallen in the attack.  The president was killed during the attack.  The army chief of staff was also killed in the attack.  I, therefore, found myself in a situation where I had to bring together the heads of service ‑‑ services of the ministry of defence and the chief of staff of the gendarmerie, as well as the other directors in the ministry of defence.  This was at the headquarters, the army headquarters itself. 

Q.
A point of clarification:  To your knowledge, between the date of this document, that is, 26th June 199 ‑‑ 25 June 1994 and 6 April 1994, was it the subject of any amendments? 

A.
Not at all. 

Q.
That is between 25 June 1993 and 6 June 1994, was this document subject to any amendments?

A.
No.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Now, please, can the witness be given document Exhibit Number P. 301? 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have it? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Document was P. 301 was an exhibit tendered by the Prosecutor.  It deals with a problem of ‑‑ it deals with the issue of gun permits.  Do you know, Mr. Ntezimana, Vincent?  N‑T‑E‑Z‑I‑M‑A‑N‑A, Ntezimana, Vincent.  

A.
I know him by name. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court who he was or who he is? 

A.
I think that he was a lecturer in the university of Rwanda in Butare, if my memory is not failing me. 

Q.
And were you able to know his political opinions? 

A.
No. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Apparently, they are finding it difficult to get the exhibit, so my proposal is that I hand my copy to him. 

Well, I think they have found it.  

Thank you, Marianne.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Please tell us what this document is, give a date to the document, and identify the person who signed it.  

A.
It is a gun permit dated 27th of July 1993, which permit is granted to Mr. Vincent Ntezimana, lecturer in the National University of Rwanda.  He's authorised to import, purchase.  You will see when you look at the column on the left‑hand side, one, a pistol with 50, 7, 65 mm cartridges.  That permit is issued in Kigali on the 27th of July 1993, and it is signed by yours truly.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Microphone, sir, Counsel.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Let me ask my question anew, because my microphone was off.  Do you identify your signature at the bottom? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Very well.  Can you tell us why you are the one who signed that document, whereas under normal circumstances it should have been the minister signing it? 

A.
For two reasons.  Reason number one, James Gasana, defence minister, had fled Rwanda on the 

20th of July 1993.  By the time he left, there were requests for issuance of permission to purchase weapons which were pending and which he had already approved, so they were at the level of the department for state security which had failed the necessary forms, appended to which was the minister's decision approving the request.  Usually such copies came with the request and the minister's decision appended to the letter.  So the director of the external state security, 

Colonel Rutayisire ‑‑ it is not necessarily this one.  There must be other documents along with this one.  After having his service fill the form, he will send it for signature by the minister.  So it was sent to the minister's office. 

Now, the minister was not present.  And before his departure, the minister had already granted his approval for that person to be issued their license.  So I was authorised to sign the document by virtue of powers which had been outlined in the letter we had discussed a while ago.  Requests for approval for weapons which had not yet been approved by the minister could not be signed, but in this particular instance, the minister had already approved, so I simply signed the form.  And this is part of the implementation of routine matters.  I was simply implementing the minister's decision.  I was not taking the decision. 

Q.
It seems as if there is a problem because you said there was need to fill a form.  And at 12:11:26, there was a word which ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

As a matter of fact, the interpreter did not hear what counsel said.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, you said you did you by the powers spelled out in P. 246, correct? 

A.
Yes, sir. 

Q.
You said the minister had left, but unless I am mistaken, Mr. Gasana was replaced by Mr. Bizimana.  

A.
I think that in Guichaoua's book he produces the various governments in Rwanda.  And there, I was able to read, and I remember and I knew that at the time I signed it on the 27th, there was no minister yet.  James Gasana had not yet been replaced, because Mr. Augustin Bizimana was appointed minister, probably, on the 28th or the 29th.  I cannot remember the exact date, but it must have been one or two days afterwards.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Now, if my client can be given an excerpt of Guichaoua's book.  And I would like to inform the Court that it is document 6 on the folder, page 56 of Guichaoua's book, The Political Crisis in Burundi and in Rwanda, authored under the supervision of André Guichaoua. 

It is document 6 in the folder, Mr. President. 

(Pages 30 to 35 by Sherri Knox)
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MR. CONSTANT:

I think the Prosecutor has a copy.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have that document, Colonel? 

A.
Yes, sir.  

Q.
Very well.  I am referring to page 756, not the cover page.  Can you tell us what is on that page? 

A.
Well, in the middle, I will read.  "Multiparty government of the 18th of July 1993."  

Q.
Who was the prime minister of that government? 

A.
Mrs. Agathe Uwilingiyimana. 

Q.
Very well.

MR. CONSTANT:

That is number 160 on the spelling list. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Kindly tell us, sir, what we have against the defence minister of that document?  

A.
What I can read is "minister of national defence, on the 18th of July 1993, James Gasana."  

Q.
But what is written there, specifically? 

A.
Do you want me to read it?  

Q.
Yes, please.  Carry on.

A.
"James Gasana, MRND, Hutu, Byumba," end of brackets.  "Threatened with death.  He did not assume his duties and went into exile in Switzerland on the 19th of July.  He will be replaced after the 30th of July by Augustin Bizimana, MRND, Hutu, Byumba."  

Q.
So that document makes it possible to know the date Mr. Gasana left, on the 19th of July 1993.  And what about his successor? 

A.
His successor assumed office on the 30th of July 1993. 

Q.
And to end on this point, can you recall which was the specific date of Exhibit 301? 

A.
It bears the date 27th of July 1993. 

Q.
Very well.  Please tell this Court, as part of your activities as director of cabinet, what types of trips did you carry out and what missions did you conduct out of Rwanda in connection with your appointment?  

A.
I will start with my maiden mission to Cameroon, late August, early September 1992.  I went there to attend a conference charged with studying how to resolve conflicts in the centre of the African region.  That was my first mission.  

The second mission was in September.  I went to Ethiopia, and this was in connection with the Arusha talks at the OAU.  We had to meet with the RPF delegation.  I left on the 23rd and returned either on the 29th or the 30th of that month in the year 1992.  

Mission number 3 was in South Africa.  I spent one week there between the 13th to the 20th of November 1992 or thereabouts.  

Mission number 4 was when I became a member of the Rwandan government delegation involved with the talks with RPF.  The first mission in that connection was from the 2nd to the 25th of November in 1992.  

I went for another mission in the conference I talked to you about with regard to conflict resolution in central Africa, in Burundi, from the 7th to the 14th of March 1993.  

On the 16th of March, I came to Arusha as part of the talks with the RPF, and I stayed here up until the 25th of June 1993.  

My last mission abroad was in late August, I believe, from the 27th to the 29th, if I remember correctly ‑‑ either 27th or 29th of August up until the 5th of September 1993 to Libreville, capital of Gabon.  That mission abroad was connected with my duty as director of cabinet.

Q.
With the leave of the Court, I will have a document handed to you, and I would like to apologise for the lack of order.  It is document number 17, a letter from the Banque Nationale de Rwanda on the 6th ‑‑ 7th of June 2005, and I will explain.  

Previously, we had disclosed a letter from that same bank, dated 6th of April 2005.  In the meantime, with much delay, we received a much more comprehensive correspondence from that bank.  Colonel, before you elaborate on that mail, I would like you to explain what happened whenever you went on mission.  I am talking about the financial aspects.  

A.
In order to go on mission, you certainly needed a mission warrant, and at the time mission warrants for civilian and military officials of the state were signed by the president of the republic.  Now, once you have the mission warrant, the ministry of foreign affairs and cooperation would conduct a competition, because there were rates.  So it would calculate the travel allowances for the person going on mission and would forward a copy thereof to the national bank, with details pertaining to the allowances due the person going on mission.  

The person going on mission would go to the national bank with his mission warrant, would go to the counter, and will receive the amount previously competed by the ministry of foreign affairs and cooperation, double‑checked by the national bank.  That is how we had our mission allowances. 

Q.
Can you tell this Court which document you have before you, what it is all about, and to whom it is addressed?  

A.
I think we have the National Bank of Rwanda.  The letterhead, it says "memo to the legal affairs service concerning mission allowances paid to Colonel Théoneste Bagosora in the years 1992 and 1993."  

Q.
To whom is that letter addressed?  

A.
To make things easier, I can read it.  

Q.
Yeah.  Carry on.  

A.
It says "Following the letter of the 24th of May 2005 from Mr. Cainnech, attorney, a member of the Defence team for Colonel Théoneste Bagosora before the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, requesting from the bank certain documents in reference, please find hereunder the table indicating the missions carried out by Colonel Théoneste Bagosora in the years 1992 to 1993."  

Q.
Colonel.  I'm sorry for interrupting you.  

Cainnech is C‑A‑I‑N‑N‑E‑C‑H, and Lussiaà is L‑U‑S‑S‑I‑A‑À, the last A with an accent; and Berdou is B‑E‑R‑D‑O‑U.  

Please tell this court who is Cainnech Lussiaà‑Berdou.  

A.
He is the legal assistant in my defence team.  

Q.
Kindly tell us which trips are mentioned in the document before you.  

A.
It mentions the trip to Ethiopia which I talked about.  It also refers to my trip to Pretoria, South Africa, and it also talks to my trip here in Arusha in December 1992.  And with regard to 1993, it mentions the trips I made to Arusha, all the trips.  But here it mentioned ‑‑ it omitted the trip I made to Bujumbura to the 7th to 14th. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Counsel's microphone is off. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you see any reference to the trip you said you made to Libreville in Gabon? 

A.
No, it is not mentioned.  Actually, there are three trips which are not mentioned here, the one I made when I was director of cabinet in August 1992 is not mentioned.  The one to Bujumbura in March 1993 is not mentioned, and my last trip, the one I made to Libreville is not mentioned.  

Q.
Can you read the paragraph which comes after the table in the letter?  

A.
"However, we cannot assert that the above‑mentioned list is comprehensive because certain documents are reportedly destroyed or looted following the 1994 war, or even that Colonel Bagosora, Théoneste, carried out other missions with other resources."  

Q.
So how can we construe that paragraph, according to you?  

A.
But it is obvious.  

Q.
Can you tell this Court, because there is an appendix to the document?  I do not want you to read it all, but just tell us in a nutshell what it is all about.  

A.
I can see pay slips, pay vouchers.  These are pay vouchers or slips.  

Q.
Are they related to what is contained in the letter? 

A.
Yes, at least, following my verifications.  There are also mission orders signed by the president.  I can see them here.  You also have notes, memos, sent from the ministry of foreign affairs to the treasurer paymaster, because the national bank could not pay vouchers which were not signed by the treasurer paymaster general.  The minister of foreign affairs sent it to the treasurer paymaster, and the minister of finance, who approved them; and thereafter they could be sent to the national bank for payment. 

Q.
Can you leave that document aside.  I would request that another document be given to you.  

MR. CONSTANT:

I would like to tell the Chamber that this is the original of document number 7.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, do you have the document in question?  

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court what it is about?  

A.
It is my passport, a copy of my passport. 

Q.
What is the nature of that passport?  

A.
It is a diplomatic passport, for the missions that I had ‑‑ I had to carry out on the behalf of the government. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court the date when this passport was issued?  If need be, you may have to refer to page 4.  

A.
Yes.  The date it was issued was 1st December 1992.  

Q.
You talked of trips that you did in August or September or November 1992.  Which passport did you use before this passport was issued?  

A.
Before joining the government delegation to the Arusha peace accords, I travelled on another passport of another category.  It was called a service passport.  It was ‑‑ it was issued to all the other categories of state civil servants.  I was given a diplomatic passport because I was going to be part of a delegation that was going to negotiate with the RPF.  The passport I had at that time was withdrawn from me and replaced by this one.  The one I had ‑‑ I had before is in the archives of ministry of foreign affairs in Kigali.  

Q.
Regarding the earlier passport, that is, the service passport, do you know whether any steps were taken concerning it? 

A.
At the time you went to Kigali, I asked you to look for it.  You told me that there was a procedure to obtain it, but that so far the procedure has not been finalised.  

Q.
Regarding the passport, I would like to draw your attention to some pages.  I would like you to go to page 10.  Have you found it?  

A.
Yes, I have. 

Q.
On this page there are six stamps.  

A.
Allow me some time to count them.  That is correct.  There are six stamps. 

Q.
I would like you to identify the stamp which is lowest, at the bottom of the page, on the right‑hand side.  

A.
Yes, I have seen it.  On that stamp you have the date 7 March 1993.  This stamp shows that I went out of the country through the Grégoire Kayibanda airport. 

Q.
I would also like you to identify the stamp in the second series of stamps on the left‑hand side of the page.  Have you seen the one I'm referring to?  This one here.  

A.
Yes, I can see it. 

Q.
Please can you identify it.  

A.
Here on this stamp is written "Entry date, 7 March 1993 in Bujumbura, Burundi." 

Q.
I would like you to now identify the stamp next to the one you have just identified.  

A.
Next to the one I've just identified?  Is it on ‑‑ to the right?  To ‑‑ 

Q.
Yes.  Next to it on the right.  

A.
Yes.  On that stamp you would see "Exit from Bujumbura, 14 March 1993." 

Q.
Now, I would like you to identify the stamp which is right above, immediately above the one you identified? 

A.
Yes.  "Entry, Kayibanda airport, 14 March 1993."  

Q.
Does this correspond to the trips that you talked to us about? 

A.
Yes, that is correct.  And which trips are not mentioned in the letter of the Banque Nationale.  

Q.
Can you now go on to page 15, please?  

A.
Yes, I am there. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court how many stamps are on this page, that is, page 15? 

A.
I can see three. 

Q.
Can you see page 14 written on that page? 

A.
Yes, I have seen it. 

Q.
I would like you to identify the stamp at the bottom of the page.  

A.
On that stamp it's written "Grégoire Kayibanda airport, exit, 29 August 1993."  

Q.
Now, move on to page 15.  Can you identify the stamp in the middle of that page?  

A.
In the middle of the page?  

Q.
Yes.  

A.
I can see on that stamp "30 August 1993, Libreville , Leon M’Ba."  

Q.
Can you identify the stamp above?  

A.
Yes.  "4 September 1993, Libreville, Leon M’Ba."  

Q.
And the last stamp at the bottom of the page? 

A.
Yes.  "5 September 1993, entry, Grégoire Kayibanda airport, Kigali."  

Q.
Does this reflect what you said earlier on concerning your last trip?  

A.
Yes.  Apart from the fact here the dates are more specific. 

Q.
A question concerning this passport or your manner of going ‑‑ leaving and coming into Rwanda.  You said, for example, that you arrived in Rwanda on 25 June 1993.  

A.
Yes.  

Q.
Do you remember that? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
Yet I do not find any specific stamp referring to that entry.  Do you have any explanation for that?  

A.
The explanation is that at that time there must have been either some rush.  We must have gone through the VIP lounge, and certainly I must have left without going through the immigration service.  

Q.
Can you go to page 12? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
There are four stamps on this page.  Do you agree?  

A.
Give me some time to count them.  Yes, you are right, four stamps. 

Q.
The first, at the top, top left‑hand corner, can you identify it? 

A.
Top left‑hand corner?  Yes.  Yes, I can identify it. 

Q.
Can you tell me what it is? 

A.
I can see "Entry, Grégoire Kayibanda airport" ‑‑ rather, "Exit ‑‑ exit ‑‑ exit via Kayibanda airport, 16 March." 

Q.
Was is it exit rather than entry? 

A.
This is the date when I left Kigali to come here to Arusha.  

Q.
My question is how do you see on this document that you left Kigali?  

A.
You will see that beneath "airport," you have "entry" and "exit," and the "entry" has been crossed out.  What is left is "exit."  

Q.
There is a stamp just next to that one which I will ask you ‑‑ which I'm asking you to identify.  It is a stamp of the republic of Tanzania?  What is the date on it? 

A.
17 March 1993. 

Q.
There is a name beneath the date.  Can you identify ‑‑ identify the date? 

A.
It is Namanga.

Q.
Can you tell the Court where is it, and why Namanga?  Namanga, N‑A‑M‑A‑N‑G‑A.  

A.
Namanga is a border post between Kenya and Tanzania.  That is the border post through which I passed by road. 

Q.
Can you say where this border post is located in relationship to Arusha? 

A.
It must be in the north or, perhaps, in the northwest.  I do not have a map with me. 

Q.
Can you identify ‑‑ even if I know that this will not be very easier because it is ‑‑ because it is not quite clear ‑‑ now, can you identify the triangular stamp in the middle?  Can you identify a date or place on that stamp? 

A.
Yes, I can see 25 June, Namanga.

Q.
What does this represent?  

A.
That ‑‑ or this means that I passed via Namanga on the 25th of June. 

Q.
Still ‑‑ and for what purpose, to the best of your knowledge? 

A.
I entered in Tanzania on the 17th of March.  Now, on the 25th of June, I was leaving Tanzania via Namanga.

Q.
Beneath the triangular stamp, there is another stamp which is at the bottom of the page.  Can you see it?

A.
Yes, I can. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court what it is? 

A.
I entered Kenya passing via Namanga.  At Namanga, there is the Tanzanian part of the border and the Kenyan part of the border.  It is beyond the border, but still in the Namanga area.

Q.
And the date which appears there, what it is? 

A.
It is still 25 June 1993.  

Q.
On 25 June 1993, you left Kenya; is that right?  

A.
No.  I entered Kenya.  

Q.
You entered Kenya? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
Were you going to return to Arusha or to Tanzania later on? 

A.
Later on, I did not return to Tanzania. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, I would like to tender into evidence these two documents, the original of the passport as well.  If need be, we can also have a copy of the passport, but I think I would tender the original.  I will have the opportunity of coming back to it later on when we'll be talking of the events of April to July 1994.  

JUDGE REDDY:

(Microphones overlapping) ‑‑ what's the number?  

MR. MUSSA:

The next exhibit is 227.  D. B227.  

JUDGE REDDY:

So this is the copy of the passport at this stage?  

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, with your leave, I can tender the original of the passport.  

JUDGE REDDY:

Yes, all right.  The original passport of Colonel Bagosora D. B227.  This was issued on the 1st December 1992; is that the correct date?  
(Exhibit No. D. B227 admitted)
MR. CONSTANT:

That is correct, Mr. President.  

JUDGE REDDY:

Yes. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, the present ‑‑ no, rather, the passport is D. B ‑‑ I'm lost, Mr. President.  There is the letter, together with the letter that is D. B ‑‑ that is the letter of BNR.  There is the letter of the National Bank of Rwanda. 

JUDGE REDDY:

Yes.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Colonel, I believe you are the one who has the original of the letter of the National Bank of Rwanda.  I would have liked to tender it, but I would like the registry to make copies thereof, together with the copies of annexes.  

In the copy you have been given, do you have annexes?  

JUDGE REDDY:

There are several annexes.  Can this be marked as one bundle, or you want them separately marked?  

MR. CONSTANT:

No.  Mr. President, we can tender the letter together with the annexes under one number.

JUDGE REDDY:

What number will this be?

MR. MUSSA:

228.

JUDGE REDDY:

All right.  So this will be D. B228, letter from the National Bank of Rwanda, bearing the date 7th June 2005 with annexures.  
(Exhibit No. D. B228 admitted)
JUDGE REDDY:

Yes.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Thank you, Mr. President. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, during your last trip from Libreville in Gabon why ‑‑ after your last trip from Libreville, Gabon, why didn't you travel again? 

A.
Well, the explanation is that after this trip on 23 September, I was retired.  And immediately thereafter the minister of defence, who was a member of the MRND party, informed me that I had been replaced by Mr. Cyprien Munyapundu and that once the broad‑based transition government was set up, I had to hand over to my successor and leave.  In principle, since the end of September, I was waiting for my replacement.  

Q.
But that does not explain why you did not travel.  

A.
I did not travel because the minister told me that I was retired, that I had been replaced, and that I should get ready to hand over my service.  How, then, could I travel, since he told me ‑‑ well, he did not ‑‑ we did not imagine that the inauguration of the broad‑based ‑‑ broad‑based government was going to be delayed.  

I stayed in that situation, in a situation described the military jargon as zero or power end of time.  In other words, I could not be sent on mission, given that I would not be ‑‑ I would not able to follow up the file that I was sent to go and treat.  Therefore, I could not carry out any work which required a follow up.  That means that I could not go on mission, since I could not follow up the mission.  The minister informed me that I should know that I had been replaced and that I should simply get ready to leave.  That was the situation in which I was.  

Q.
Who now did the missions which you used to do?  

A.
You would notice that the mission relating to the conference on the settlement of conflicts in central Africa, in April, if I had still been in active service, since I had been on that mission three times before ‑‑ for the fourth mission, if I still been in active service, normally, I would have been the one to go to Yaoundè in Cameroon in the place of the minister of defence.  But he is the one who went.  

He told me ‑‑ the minister had already put me aside.  He had already rubbed out my name on matters of war ‑‑ on the war chart of the table.  He had asked the headquarters to cancel my name from the battle orders.  You can see the battle orders drawn up on 1st March 1994.  My name is not on those battle orders.  In fact, I can say that I was in the corridor, so to speak, the corridors of the ministry on my way out.  But I waited for someone to come and take over.  That person never came.  The person never came because the broad‑based transition government was not inaugurated.  

Q.
A few points of clarification to conclude on this point, Colonel.  You mentioned a regional meeting.  Can you clarify what it was about?  

A.
It was a conference which had been instituted by the United Nations organisation.  It was intended for countries of the central African region.  I cannot list all of them, but they were French‑speaking central African foreign countries. 

Q.
You said that you participated three times in that conference before April 1994.  Can you mention those three times for it to be clear? 

A.
From the first conference I did, this was end of August, beginning of September 1992.  It was at that time that they started, and the first conference was in Yaoundè, Cameroon.  I went to Bujumbura for another such conference from the 7th to the 14th of March.  And in the same connection, I carried out another mission.  We just saw the dates.  I think it was from the 29th of August to the 4th of September 1993.  So the first three editions of the conference I attended.  The fourth that was organised was in April 1994, and, at the time, I was awaiting replacement so I did not travel.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, if you so agree, I can interrupt my direct now.  

JUDGE REDDY:

Yes, I think this might be a convenient time, so we will adjourn now for lunch and resume at 2:30. 
(Court recessed at 1302H)
(Pages 36 to 45 by Priscilla Trillo)
(Court resumed at 1440H) 
MR. PRESIDENT:

Maître Constant. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Thank you, Mr. President. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, I will discuss with you some allegations against you during your time as directeur de cabinet. 

First of all, do you know Butotoli plot, that area? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Butotoli is spelt:  B‑U‑T‑O‑T‑O‑L‑I. 

Can you tell us whether between '90 and '94 you visited this place? 

A.
Not at all. 

Q.
Under what circumstances did you know this place prior to 1990? 

A.
I knew this area on the map.  I knew that this was an area where soldiers from the Bigogwe commando training centre went for commando techniques in water, that is, amphibious operations. 

Q.
You, yourself, as part of your professional activities, did you ever go there? 

A.
No.  I passed by there when I was going to the Bralirwa.  There is a road that passes by there.  So when I was going to Bralirwa, I passed by there and I saw the centre, but I did not go inside. 

Q.
Two Prosecution witnesses, ZF and DCH, have said that in 1992 ‑‑ and one of them said that in the middle of the year, and the other said at the end of the year ‑‑ that during that year you held meetings with civilians in that place and that you made statements targeting the extermination of Tutsis.  Do you remember those allegations? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
I would like us to go point by point, and taking into account the necessity not to reveal the identity of those concerned, I would like to ask you first of all, do you know ZF? 

A.
No.  I saw him here.  I saw him here when he came to testify. 

Q.
ZF said that he had met with you and he had even had a drink with you.
A.
It is possible that he could have seen me in my place at Gisenyi.  It is possible that he saw me in a hotel at Gisenyi, but I do not recall having met him there. 

Q.
He said that he had his ‑‑ that he had your telephone number, and that in case of emergency he was supposed to contact you.  Did he ever call you on the phone? 

A.
Never. 

Q.
Let me rephrase my question.  

Were you aware of the existence of a person who corresponds to what we know about this witness?  I don't know whether you understand what I mean.  It is just that we are in open session, so I cannot talk about his occupation and his position.  But what I want to know is:  Were you aware of the existence of such a character? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Under what circumstances and in what context, and please be careful while answering?  

A.
In the ministry of defence it was there that I knew that there was a civilian working in Gisenyi. 

Q.
Thank you for being cautious.  

MR. CONSTANT:

I believe the Bench has understood what the Colonel is referring to. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
ZF also stated that he saw you in mid‑1992.  He did not give an exact date, but he said that he saw you holding a meeting in Butotoli with civilians, including Leon Mugesera.  Do you have any comment on that? 

A.
My first comment is that if I had to convene such a meeting, I wouldn't organise it in a military centre.  I would hold it outside of military premises because that was forbidden.  That is my first objection.  

The second is that I was a soldier in active service at that time and, as such, I had to be apolitical.  It was, therefore, not possible for me to make such utterances in the presence of civilians, not to mention to do so in a military premises, whereas that was forbidden. 

Q.
The problem, Colonel, is that according to the Prosecution theory, the military machinery was at the disposal of what they referred to as extremists, and that that meeting may have been irregular, but it took place because the army was assisting extremists, irrespective of whether they were civilians or soldiers. 

A.
In any case, the Butotoli centre belonged to the Bigogwe commando training centre.  The commander of that centre, Colonel Nzungize, he hails from Butare, I believe, and like the other officers from that region they were considered to be close to the opposition.  And as I explained this morning, he was the one who was the commander of the centre.   Even if I had to go around the general staff in Kigali in order to have access to this centre, which was guarded by soldiers from the commando centre who had instructions to guard that centre and provide security there, I would have had to request authorisation or permission from the commando of the ‑‑ or, rather, from the commander of the commando centre.  Should I have broken into that centre, perhaps the guards on duty could have been afraid of my rank and they would have allowed me in.  But in that case, they would have reported to the commander, and the commander would have complained to the minister of defence, who was my boss, and they would have told him that your director de cabinet has come and violated regulations here. 

This did not happen.  The minister of defence never received any such complaint and, in any case, he never reproached me for having gone to violate the security of a -- military premises. 

Q.
Can you spell the name of the person who was the commander?

A.
It is Nzungize and it is spelt:  N‑Z‑U‑N‑G‑I‑Z‑E.  Lieutenant Colonel. 

Q.
Can you tell us what happened to this person? 

A.
I believe that he is a refugee somewhere in a different country, but he's not in Rwanda. 

Q.
And what was his position in 1992? 

A.
He was the commander of the Bigogwe commando training centre. 

Q.
Did you know Mr. Leon Mugesera? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
What links did you have with him? 

A.
I knew him by name, but I knew his brother, Christophe Mfizi because that brother of his was, at one point, director of the Rwandan information authority, and I was a member of the board of directors of that authority.  I, therefore, knew Mugesera through his brother, with whom I worked. 

Q.
Mfizi is spelt M‑F‑I‑Z‑I, is that correct? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Is this person related to the one who wrote the book on the denunciation of the zero network? 

A.
Yes, it is, indeed, him. 

Q.
At what time were you a member of the board of directors of ORINFOR?

A.
That was when I was the chief of SERDOC, that is, the chief of the documentation service in the ministry of defence.  That was my second time that I was there. 

Q.
You mean before 1988? 

A.
Yes, let us say between 1985 and 1988. 

Q.
And when you say that you knew Leon Mugesera through his brother Christophe Mfizi, what does that mean?  Was he an acquaintance of you ‑‑ of yours? 

A.
Mfizi was my neighbour in the Kiyovu neighbourhood.  We were living in neighbouring houses and neighbours often know themselves, whether they are friends or not.  I knew his brother when he came to visit him, so he was not my friend, but he came to visit his brother, who was my neighbour. 

Q.
Was that the extent of your relationship with Mr. Mugesera? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
You never had the opportunity to receive him in your home? 

A.
Never. 

Q.
Did you ever go to his house? 

A.
Never. 

Q.
In the course of the year 1992, did you ever frequent Mr. Mugesera? 

A.
Never. 

Q.
Even during official meetings? 

A.
Never.  What sort of official meetings would I have with him?  

Q.
I did not know you were the directeur de cabinet and, in any case, from the middle of the year, 1992, because the witness did not say what ‑‑ in what capacity you were when you met with him, but you could have met with him during meetings? 

A.
No, I did not meet with him. 

Q.
ZF stated that after that meeting – and, he was not able to say whether it was hours after or days 

after -- but he said that in the implementation of what was said in that meeting, that is, the extermination of Tutsis, massacres started taking place and he mentioned two places, Kanama and Kayove.  That is K‑A‑N‑A‑M‑A and K‑A‑Y‑O‑V‑E.  Do you know those communes? 

A.
I know the geographical location of Kanama, and I know about Kayove commune on the map.  I can locate it in Gisenyi préfecture. 

Q.
The two communes? 

A.
Yes, I can locate them. 

Q.
To your knowledge or based on your knowledge of the Rwandan situation in 1992, were there any massacres, perpetrated in those communes in mid‑1992? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Why is it that you can say that with certainty? 

A.
This is because each time there were disturbances -- and I'm referring to the Dismas Nsengiyaremye government, which came into office in April 1992 -- during that period, whenever there were disturbances in the country, whenever there were massacres or serious tensions, he carried out pacification.  And, in addition to that, he sent commissions of inquiry to find out what was happening.  

And, as far as I know, there is no report on any inquiry regarding massacres that could have taken place in the Kanama and Kayove communes.  I can even extend that to the entire Gisenyi préfecture. 

In June and in July, and I am sure of that, there were no massacres, no tensions, no political disturbances in Gisenyi préfecture.  And so I can say that for the period from June to July, to my knowledge, there were no massacres.  And there is nothing that would go to indicate that there were massacres, such as reports that would be prepared by commissions of inquiry and sent to the government, or even reports from human rights organisations.  So I do not know about any such thing for the period during June and July, that is, regarding alleged massacres in Gisenyi préfecture. 

Q.
To your knowledge, were there any disturbances in Kayove or Kaname or in the two places, irrespective of the time period mentioned by the witness? 

A.
Yes.  There were problems in Kayove in December, and at the end of the year, and even in the beginning of the following year, there were massacres in some communes of Gisenyi.  The government sent a commission of inquiry there, and I believe we have a report on that ‑‑ that was disclosed to us by the Prosecution and it includes details on what happened, who did what, and the communes ‑‑ the communes in which these massacres took place.  The incidents are well documented.  

Even the government organised a meeting on that issue, and I believe this meeting was held in February 1993 to set up that inquiry.  So there is a detailed report that exists on the massacres that took place in the Kibuye, Gisenyi and Ruhengeri préfectures during that period. 

Q.
So you are saying that there were, indeed, massacres in Kayove commune in the end of 1992, but what about Kanama?  

A.
In Kanama commune it is highly likely that it was rather at the beginning of the following year.  If I had the report, well, I can say that there were many communes in which massacres took place during this period from December to January.  If I had the report with me, I would be able to give you a more detailed list of the communes that were affected. 

But regarding Kayove, the massacres there began in mid‑December and continued right up until towards the end of January.  Whereas in the other communes of Gisenyi, which I do not all remember, but which are included in the report that I have mentioned to, there were disturbances and massacres, but in January 1993. 

MR. CONSTANT:

With the leave of the President, can Exhibit D. B153 be handed over to the witness. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
So you'll be handed over that document, but I would like already to tackle the second issue, that is, DCH, whom you saw in this court.  Do you know him? 

A.
No, I do not know him.  I only saw him here. 

Q.
Isn't that the witness who said that he used to see you because you lived or because he lived near your sister? 

A.
That is possible, it's possible that he knew me, and that I don't know him.  We don't have the same status.  We were not neighbours.  We had no reason to know one another indeed. 

Q.
What he says is that ‑‑ well, he talks about another meeting, a meeting that was talked about by ZF, and he says this meeting took place towards the end of the year, apparently, by the end of December 1992, and still at Butotoli and in the presence of Mr. Mugesera and others.  And according to him, you called on people to exterminate the Tutsis.  He specifies that following that meeting, there might have been mass murders at Bagogwe.  

Do you have the document with you now? 

A.
I have it. 

Q.
Now, please, can you, since you wish to make comments on that to the Chamber, can you tell us something about that.  To start with, I would like you to give the date thereof and identify it for the Court.  

A.
The document I have, this, first of all is a forwarding letter accompanying this report, or accompanying the forwarding slip sending this letter to the minister ‑‑ the prime minister, and the report to ‑‑ the report by the ‑‑ or, rather, the chairman of the commission of inquiry is Dr. Augustin Iyamuremye, who was the chief of internal intelligence within the prime minister's office.  

Q.
Iyamuremye is spelt:  I‑Y‑A‑M‑U‑R‑E‑M‑Y‑E.  

Can you, if you know, tell the Court ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Can you slow down with the spelling. 

Once more, please. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Yes, Mr. President. 

Augustin Iyamuremye.  And the name is spelt as follows:  I‑Y‑A‑M‑U‑R‑E‑M‑Y‑E, and I crave the indulgence, Mr. President, for having been too fast. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Now, can you tell the Court, if you know, what has become today of Dr. Augustin Iyamuremye?  

A.
After the RPF took power in Kigali, he joined the RPF in which he became minister, and today, he is a senator in Kigali. 

Q.
I would like that ‑‑ on the first page, you indicate where Dr. Augustin Iyamuremye says, concerning the conditions in which that commission was set up. 

A.
Well, it is not long and, if you allow me, I can read it out. 

Q.
Yes, please go ahead. 

A.
"Your Excellency, the prime minister, I have the honour to forward to you as an attachment to this document, a report of the adminstra ‑‑ of the administrative and the political commission that was set up by the ministerial council, that sat on the 3rd of February 1993. 

“The commission was supposed to shed light under the recent unrest and disturbances that rocked the Gisenyi, Ruhengeri and Kibuye préfectures."

Q.
Can you move on to page 21 of that document?  

A.
Yes, I'm on it. 

Q.
There are the names of the members of the commission that are listed therein.  Can you identify who they are and can you tell us if you know them, beginning with the chairman? 

A.
Mr. Kanrubira ‑‑ Kanyarubi.  Kanyarubi is spelt K‑A‑N‑Y‑A‑R‑U‑B‑I.  

Q.
I'm sorry ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says counsel. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Carry on. 

A.
Mr. Robero, I don't know him.  Mr. Robero, Laurent, is not known to me. 

Mr. Muhatunkunto, Norbert is not known to me either, and is spelt M‑U‑H‑A‑T‑U‑N‑K‑U‑N‑T‑O. 

And Mr. Munyemana, Athanase is not known to me either, that is, M‑U‑N‑Y‑E‑M‑A‑N‑A.  

Q. 
Now, please can you comment on that report, and can you tell us how it shows that there were disturbances in Kayove towards the end. 

A.
Can you wait for a second?  I don't know if I have ‑‑ I'll be availed of enough time to read it. 

I'm aware of what it is, but I don't know exactly where it is. 

In any case, I would have liked also to be availed of the report of the government council that met on the 3rd of February. 

Q.
If you have that report?

MR. CONSTANT:

Please, can Exhibit D. B152 be handed over to the witness.  Thank you. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have the document? 

A.
Yes, I have it. 

Q.
I believe you want to refer to the second paragraph of page 2? 

A.
Yes.  Yes, I located it. 

"The (unintelligible) 2, Roman 1" ‑‑ I probably can read it out to you.  It will not take long. 

"The meeting situated origin of elements in manifestations of the parties, in CDR, which began on the 19th of December 1992.  One ‑‑ one of the organisers of (unintelligible) on the part of some organisations caused by individuals, who apparently had received ‑‑ "

MR. PRESIDENT:

It is too fast again. 

Now, we got until, "One of the organisers." 

Start again. 

THE WITNESS:

I will start all over.  

"The meeting situated the origin of the events in the ‑‑ in the activities of the MRND and CDR parties, which began on the 19th of December 1992, and one of the organisa ‑‑ one of the organisers was overwhelmed by a group of individuals who apparently had received as instructions to block the roads, and who subsequently attacked the Tutsi population and other parties such as MDR, PL and PSD parties."

In this letter ‑‑ well, somewhere I read that massacres in Kayove commune began around the 19th and ended around the 20th of December.   But, I think, I ‑‑ you will ‑‑ I will need some time to be able to locate that passage. 
BY MR. CONSTANT:
Q.
Colonel, can you please look at page 2 of the report?  That is page 2 of the document, and I'll refer you to the second paragraph thereof and the paragraph begins with the ‑‑ le gendarme? 

A.
Yes, I can see it, yes.  That is it, this is where it is. 

“The gendarmes of the Gisenyi group, first of all intervened there ‑‑ in the Kayove area where ‑‑ from the 21st of December 1992.  And then, the national gendarmerie general staff had to send elements on the 23rd and something was closed.”  But I do not see -- 

Q.
What is it you are looking for? 

A.
I am looking for the place which says when massacres began in Kayove, and when the massacres were confirmed to have been brought under control, because that is also mentioned. 

Q.
In any case, from that document, what you want to show is that there weren't massacres in Kayove or in Kanama in mid ‑‑ mid‑'92? 

A.
I said massacres took place in Kayove in December 1992 and not in June. 

MR. CONSTANT:

I would like that document should be handed over to Mr. Bagosora, and this is a document that is on the list of documents or exhibits, and I'm referring to document number 8, report of the commission of inquiry on the Kibuye préfecture.  

It is not a document that has been tendered. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have that document? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
I would like you to point out or to look at the first page.  I think, it ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Well, Counsel didn't finish his sentence. 

THE WITNESS:

On the first page we see it is a letter, a forwarding ‑‑ a cover letter by the commission of inquiry on the disturbances in Kibuye.
BY MR. CONSTANT:
Q.
Can you tell us exactly when the date was? 

A.
Well, the date was written in handwriting.  

Q.
I think there is a date on top of the page.  

A.
Yes, I can see it. 

Q.
Can you point it out to us? 

A.
I'm unable to read it.  However, if this is the date on which it was recopied, it will be 28th September 1992. 

Q.
28th of which month? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Are you now referring to the typewritten or the handwritten date, Mr. Constant?  We have two dates. 

THE WITNESS:

Well, I am unable to read the printed date on the copy that I have because I can see a shade. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Well, can you show me a copy, because I don't quite understand what you're saying ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says Counsel Constant.

THE WITNESS:

Well, I see a date, the 17th. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

The typewritten is “Kigali, the 17th of September 1992.”  Isn't that what's written on the top?  

THE WITNESS:

Yes, fair and good.  Yes, that is what I see. 

Thank you, Mr. President.  Mr. President, I'm obliged 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Now, I would like you to look at the second page of the document. 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you please in ‑‑ indicate to us what is written under the introduction, that is, in the introduction? 

A.
From the 18th to the 25th of August ethnic disturbances took place in Gishyita and Rwamatamu communes in the Kibuye préfecture. 

Q.
To your knowledge, had there been other reports concerning disturbances in places other than those two locations, in particular, in Kanama or Kayove? 

A.
No. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Answers the Accused.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Now, amongst all the documents that were disclosed by the Prosecutor, were you aware of one of the documents concerning massacres that might have taken place in Kanama or Kayove?

A.
Well, those that were disclosed to us, no.

Q.
So what do you think of ZF's allegation in what he contended? 

A.
Well, he merely fabricated all of that. 

Q.
Now, as concerns DCH, I would like to know what would be your reaction to DCH when he says that at the end of 1992, you held a meeting with Mugesera and others where you invited people to exterminate the Tutsis at the Butotoli camp.

A.
I'll say, for starters, that we all know the date that I gave you ‑‑ in the report of the ministers' council that took place in the prime minister's cabinet on the 2nd of February 1993. 

Under point 2, Roman I, and in the second sentence, we know that the massacres in Gisenyi ‑‑ Ruhengeri began on the 19th of December, that we are well aware of.  We know that the massacres began on the 19th of December 1992. 

Q.
Yes.  But that report doesn't talk about a meeting in Butotoli camp.  I think we agree on that? 

A.
No, it talks about massacres. 

Q.
Well, it talks about MRND and CDR activities that triggered off massacres in certain communes of the Gisenyi préfecture, and even in Ruhengeri. 

Now, Colonel, DCH did not talk a ‑‑ about MRND meetings of activities of a (unintelligible) MRND.   He talks about a supposedly secret meeting at the Butotoli camp at which he alleges that you were present. 

So my first questions in order to move the positions forward, is to know that ‑‑ where you were in December 1992? 

A.
In December 1992, with effect from the 2nd of December, up to the 27th of December, I was here in Arusha. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I say this again:  You are speaking too fast.  The interpreter is speaking too fast.  We don't get it.  So, slow down. 

THE WITNESS:

I will repeat. 

That from the 2nd of December to the 27th of December I was here in Arusha. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Can the document or Exhibit D. B227 be handed over to Colonel Bagosora and that document is -- or the exhibit is his diplomatic passport. 

Do you have the passport with you? 

A.
Yes, I have it. 

Q.
Now, can you move on to page 8 thereof, and I would like to recall that normally on the number 7, I think everybody has a photocopy of the passport, that is in document number 7.  Are you on page 8 of that passport? 

A.
Yes, I'm on it. 

Q.
I would like that you identify the stamp that is at the far bottom, on the left‑hand corner of the passport, or the page.  Can you see it?  It is rectangular in shape? 

A.
Yes, I can see it.
(Pages 46 to 56 by Jean Baigent)
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Can you tell us at what airport that stamp was appended?  Can you say which border post and what is the date? 

A.
I see 1st December 1992.  That is exit ‑‑ 

Q.
Exit from where? 

A.
That is from the Grégoire Kayibanda airport. 

Q.
Now, can you, on page 9, indicate the visa that you find on it and stamp appended thereto? 

A.
The stamp?  

Q.
Yes, there is already a visa there.  Now, can you tell the Court which visa it is? 

A.
Yes.  I can see a Kenyan visa. 

Q.
Now, can you say when that visa was issued? 

A.
1st December 1992. 

Q.
Just above the visa, to the left, there is a stamp.  Can you identify it? 

A.
Yes.  It is a Kenyan visa issued by the immigration services on the 1st of December '92. 

Q.
And this is the stamp which was stamped at which border post? 

A.
Kenya.  I think this was at the airport.  

Q.
Apparently, there is a name of a city there? 

A.
Yes, I see JKIA, Nairobi. 

Q.
Thank you.  Now, if you move on to page 8, or if you revert to page 8, at the bottom to the left, there is a rectangular stamp.  Now, can you identify it to the Chamber? 

A.
Yes.  You see on the 2nd of December you have Namanga ‑‑ Kenya, and below Namanga. 

Q.
In addition to that, at the top to the right there is another triangular stamp bearing a date.  Do you see the one I am referring to?  

A.
Yes, I see republic of Tanzania.  Is that the one?  

Q.
Yes.  Well ‑‑ 

A.
Yes, I am sorry.  This is the exit, 26 December 1992, via Namanga, and near that triangular stamp there is another one.   

Q.
When I say near to it, it is to the left, and it is stamped across? 

A.
Yes, I can see it.

Q.
Immigration, Grégoire Kayibanda ‑‑ Grégoire Kayibanda immigration services, entry Kigali.  

A.
Yes the date is 26th December 1992. 

Q.
Now, does this document have to do with the trip you said you made in December 1992? 

A.
That is correct yes.

JUDGE REDDY:

(Microphones overlapping)
MR. CONSTANT:

I am sorry.  

JUDGE REDDY:

This passport was issued on the 1st of December 1992, was it not?  

THE WITNESS:

Oui. 

JUDGE REDDY: 

And where was it issued?

THE WITNESS:

At Kigali.

JUDGE REDDY:

And on the same date, the date of the passport, you departed Rwanda?  Is that right? 

THE WITNESS:

That is correct. 

JUDGE REDDY: 

And that's the day you entered Kenya; the same day you entered Kenya?  

THE WITNESS:

Yes, on the same day. 

JUDGE REDDY: 

And then you left ‑‑ left Tanzania on the 26th of December.  So between the 1st of December and 26th of December, you were in Tanzania; is that right, in Arusha?  

THE WITNESS:

Well, I think there are stamps that we did not point out.  I left here on the 26th.  I came out of Tanzania through Namanga.  I got into Kenya, where I spent the night, and the next day I went back to Kigali. 

JUDGE REDDY: 

Yes, thank you.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Well, Colonel, in any case, DCH did not give any specific dates and it's possible ‑‑ it might have been possible that even if you arrived at Kigali on the 27th, it is possible that you organised a meeting at Butotori on the 28th or the 29th.  Do you have any information that you could put vis ‑‑ that you could use vis‑à‑vis what (unintelligible) Mugesera.  

A.
Well, Mr. Mugesera, since the speech he made on the 22nd November 1992, the Rwandan judiciary ‑‑ in any case, the minister of justice at the time, Mr. Mbonampeka, Stanislas, had issued an order to the effect that he should be arrested in order for judicial proceedings to be instituted against him.  Since the 22nd of November, therefore, Mugesera was in hiding.  

He went into hiding, and the Prosecutor of Kigali was unable to locate him while he was in hiding, up until when he fled; that is, on the 12th of December when he left Rwanda.  And we find that date in his judgement in Canada where he gave himself up and gave information in his examination‑in‑chief and cross‑examination.  So the date on which he left Rwanda was on the 12th of December 1992 to go to Spain.

And he passed to Zaire; he went to Kisangani, where he met some Spanish priests who helped him to go to Spain.  So he left Rwanda on the 12th of December.  He left Rwanda while I was here in Arusha, and when I returned to Kigali on the 27th of December, he was no longer there.  He had already left.  He was no longer in Rwanda. 

Q.
A few points of clarification, Colonel.  First of all, you said that legal proceedings were initiated against Mr. Mugesera following his speech? 

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
Now, did you attend the speech made by Mugesera?

A.
No.

Q.
You are not present there?  

A.
No. 

Q.
I would like Exhibit P. 367 to be shown to the witness.  And that is the last exhibit of the Prosecution which was disclosed or tendered during the cross‑examination of LE1.  

In the meantime, you talked about information concerning Mr. Mugesera and I am referring to excerpts from the judgement of Mr. Mugesera, and that is document 9.  And I would like my co‑counsel to read an excerpt, since it is English.  And on the document that you have, it is on page 4.  

MS. TURNER: 

"Facts:  On November 22nd 1992, at Kabaya, Rwanda, Léon Mugesera made a speech, the content of which led to the issuing of the equivalent of an arrest warrant against him on November 25, 1992.  He managed to flee Rwanda on December 12, 1992 and find temporary refuge in Spain where on March 31, 1993, he made an application for permanent residence in Canada for himself, his wife, and his five minor children.  The application was approved, and landing in Canada granted on their arrival at Mirabel on August 12th, 1993.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

And yes, Mirabel was M‑I‑R‑A‑B‑E‑L.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Absolutely Mr. President.  It is not the fruit.  

I would like to thank my co‑counsel. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Now, Colonel, is that what you are referring to?  And please switch on your microphone.  

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Do you have P. 367 now?  

A.
Yes, P.  367B.  

Q.
I do not know why you have the B because I am interested in A.  

A.
Well, I also have the A, I have the two.

Q.
Now, can you tell us what this exhibit is, P.  367? 

A.
This is a letter that the minister of justice, Mr. Stanislas Mbonampeka, wrote to the public Prosecutor in Kigali, and the subject is "initiation of proceedings."  

Q.
Now, can you tell us, legal proceedings against who? 

A.
That is, proceedings against Mr. Léon Mugesera. 

Q.
Very well.  In summary, with regard to that allegation by DCH, you are saying that you were not in Rwanda at that time in December 1992 when Mugesera was still there? 

A.
I was away from Rwanda from the 1st of December to the 27th of December 1992, whereas Mugesera was not in Rwanda as from the 12th of December 1992.  So it would not have been possible for me to meet with Mugesera after the 12th of December 1992 because he had already left. 

Q.
So you are disputing what DCH said regarding that meeting? 

A.
Absolutely, yes.

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, before moving on to something else, I would like to tender these two documents.  I would like to point out that I have the Mugesera judgement in its entirety, but it is very voluminous.  I just took out the excerpt that I needed, except the Court wants me to tender the whole document.  The letter is the letter of 17 December 1992, and the report of the commission of inquiry under the disturbances, and, then, of course, the judgement of Mr. Mugesera. 

THE WITNESS:

Mr. President, I would also like, if the document has not yet been tendered, that the document on the regulations prohibiting meetings in military premises should also be included.  I do not know what document that is.  I don't know if that document has already been tendered in evidence.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Mr. Matemanga, with the leave of the President, could you show my client this document?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The first document was December '92.  Was that what you said, 17th?  

MR. CONSTANT: 

December ‑‑ 17 September, '92, Mr. President.  

You don't have that document in your file, Mr. President?  Document number 8, I believe.  We are sorry.  I can give you my copy. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Oh, I see, you are simply talking about this commission, which is dated the 17th of September.  Yes that is ‑‑‑ is that the one we referred to previously.  Is that already in evidence?  

MR. WHITE:

Mr. President, if it please the Court, I was under the impression that that document, 17 September 1992, the cover letter at least, is D. B129.  If it's just the cover letter, then I stand corrected, but I think it was the whole thing.  However, I can also advise that the Prosecution is in possession of an English translation of D. B129, and the attachment ‑‑ or the report as it were.  And while on my feet, I'll also indicate that I recently received translations of two documents, D. B152 and D. B153.  So if it please the Court, I am prepared to give copies of those two documents as well, in their English translation.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

That's very kind.  

Now, what do we do with this 17 September document, Mr. Constant?  Do you agree that it's already D. B129, at least the cover letter?  

MR. CONSTANT:

My colleague is probably right, because when I cross‑examined Professor Reyntjens, I used a document from the archives of MINADEF and which had to do with the events of August '92 in Kibuye.  I think we have to cross‑check that.  I do not know whether it is the entire document, or just part thereof.  But I believe the observation from my learned friend is justified.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

It's not only the cover letter; it's also an attachment, namely, the report starting with the same K number.  And, actually, ending with three pages more than the one you are tendering now, so it's even more complete than the one you want to tender.  So we do not need to do anything about this one.  It's already in even more complete than the suggested document.  

Then the judgement, was that the next one?  

MR. CONSTANT:

Yes, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

We will then wish, probably, to supplement the previous version with your English version, then, Mr. White?  

MR. WHITE:

Yes.  And just for the record, that's the official language services translation of the documents that were marked L0020259 through 0275, and the translation is now marked K0336070 through 87.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  That was helpful.  With other words, L number for the original and K number for the translation.  And we will call them A and B, then.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Now, to the judgement.  We only have this English excerpt, is that so, even though you told us that you have the entire judgement, but it's very voluminous. 

MR. CONSTANT: 

Yes, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Matemanga, that will be D. B?  

MR. MATEMANGA: 

229.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Okay. 

(Exhibit No. D. B229 admitted) 

MR. PRESIDENT:

That's the excerpt of the judgement in English.  

Do you have the corresponding pages in Kinyarwanda?  That would be the way to proceed, either the entire document or at least the corresponding Kinyarwandan pages would be the normal way.  Look into it when you have time.  

JUDGE REDDY: 

This is a Canadian judgement.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Of course, it is.  Thank you.  It's not required.  We don't need a translation into Kinyarwanda of Canadian documents.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Especially, as I would have been incapable of producing it.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  Let's proceed.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, to conclude on this issue of meetings in Butotori, I would like you to be shown a document, document number 10, which is an excerpt of the disciplinary rules and regulations.  

Now, can you tell us what is in this document which reflects what you said a short while ago? 

A.
I will refer you to page 743, article 17.  It's not long, I can read it to you.  

"It is forbidden for a soldier in active service to become a member of a political party.  However, such a soldier can become a member of a movement or association formed with the purpose of promoting national development.  In military camps and in their vicinities, and at all times, it shall be forbidden to organise and to participate in activities or actions that could undermine the neutrality of a soldier."

MR. CONSTANT:

For purposes of the record, except I am mistaken, it is an excerpt from P. 106, and this has already been referred to before this Court.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
So, Colonel, you are saying that organising meetings as ZF and DCH said would be contrary to this article?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

 There is a remark here, I understand.  

MR. WHITE:

For the record Mr. President, it appears as P. 155, both A and B versions.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

I am hearing the interpreters, but I am not hearing Mr. White. 

MR. WHITE:

Yes.

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. White is quite correct.  

MR. WHITE:

P. 155.  

MR. CONSTANT:

D. B16 is an excerpt of P. 155.  And the article read by Colonel Bagosora was article 17 of P. 155. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Listen, this Canadian judgement, which I am now trying to get acquainted with, if my recollection is correct, there have been two judgements in Canada, the first instance and an appeal judgement; isn't that so?  Which one is this?  

MR. CONSTANT:

I believe there were even three, Mr. President, because recently there was a decision of the supreme court.

MR. PRESIDENT:

This comes from which instance, this one?  

MR. HIVON: 

It is the federal court of appeal, Your Honour, which is the second instance; and the third instance is the supreme court, which handed down a decision last spring, I believe.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

And that supreme court judgement contains the same information about the movements of Mr. Mugesera as we find here on page 4, quoted?  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Mr. President, I cannot lie to you.  I have not read the supreme court judgement, but I can check or verify it.  I believe my colleague Drew White would like to say something.  

MR. WHITE:

I think, Mr. President, we have read it, but we can't remember it.  And so we don't have the document my friend has.  We will have it checked out later.  

MR. SKOLNIK: 

I like to be of some assistance.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  

MR. SKOLNIK: 

There was an immigration board hearing.  The ‑‑ there was an order of deportation made.  Then there was a proceeding taken in federal court trial division, which maintained the judgement of the immigration board.  Then there was an appeal from the federal court trial division to the federal court of appeal, which reversed the decision.  From that, there was an appeal to the supreme court of Canada.  And the supreme court of Canada reversed the appeal on a narrow issue.  They said that the court of appeal could not substitute its opinion on the credibility of witnesses which had appeared before the immigration board; and, therefore, they reversed that judgement.  They said there was no basis in law for the court of appeal to substitute its assessment of credibility to that of the board.  And that's how I understand that judgement.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

All right.  And when it comes to this particular sequence in the judgement which is of relevance to the present issue, we will come back to that when we have read it.  

MR. SKOLNIK: 

I don't think there's an issue ‑‑ I don't think there is a factual issue that Mugesera left ‑‑ I forget the dates we just mentioned -- the 12th of December.  I think those dates are not in dispute.  I don't think there's a dispute, but Mr. White can double‑check so that we make comments ‑‑ suggestion on that to the Court.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

All right.  Let's proceed.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
To conclude this point, briefly.  Even though it is admitted, we have to confirm it so that there should be no doubt.  So, to your knowledge, there were no reports indicating that you violated the disciplinary regulations of the Rwandan army.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Can you please switch on your microphone?  

THE WITNESS:

None at all.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Very well.  Colonel, we are going to move on to something else.  

Do you accept or not being the author of the document, which, so far, has been referred to as your presumed diary? 

A.
What I can say is that I, first of all, asked my lawyers to locate the original so that I should be able to see the complete diary.  The procedure initiated to obtain that original diary failed, and I was, therefore, not able to know whether the handwritten notes ‑‑ well, I admit that the handwritten notes are my writing ‑‑ are in my handwriting, but I cannot possibly imagine where they fit in in the diary.  

I asked my counsel to try and locate the original diary, but this was not possible.  But I admit that I recognise my handwriting, but with the reservation of possible manipulation and additions, which is why I did not want to take a definite decision on that manuscript.  I simply had asked to recognise them as such, before, being able to have access to the original diary.  

The trial continued and the Prosecutor continued saying that the original document is very important, but I believe that for ‑‑ or, rather, in the interest of the Chamber, and in my only interest, it would be preferable for me to express myself on those handwritten notes that I wrote down myself.  But, as long as that diary is not there, I recognise only the notes.  I could have used papers from a diary as paper to write down notes.  It is also possible that my handwriting could have been photocopied and put on the pages of a diary.  So I believe this is a crucial issue.  

But for the purposes of the Court, and for myself, I admit that that is my handwriting.  But describing this as a diary is where the problem arises, because if I re‑read those notes, I do not see the daily progression of the diary.  It is not a day‑to‑day diary, and this is something you will note when you peruse those notes.  

So I am prepared to explain myself in relation to my notes, but if I see any places where these notes have been tampered with or where there have been additions, I will point that out to the Court.  

Q.
To sum up, Colonel, given the failure of your team to come up with the original, you do acknowledge that those notes are your notes? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
I am going to hand over a copy of that document to you, specifically, the copy of what was disclosed by the Prosecutor's office is dated on 24, and that is document number 11 BAGOTE 24, document 11. 

Now, Colonel, do you know under what conditions the Office of the Prosecutor availed himself of that document? 

A.
I learned from here in this courtroom about that.  And I don't know if it is Des Forges who talked about it, but it was a Prosecution witness who talked about it, so I can say that it is the Prosecutor.  And they said that they got that diary from an RPF employee in Kigali.  And that the RPF agent or employee told them that the diary was found in my residence.  And they didn't specify which residence in Kigali. 

Q.
One question:  Do you know which RPF agent it is?  

A.
Well, they didn't give me his name.  

Q.
Colonel, I would like you to do the following exercise, even if it may seem to be fastidious to look at every page one after the after so that we know specifically something about this document, or what the document contains.  

MR. WHITE:

If it please the Court, the Prosecution has also obtained a translation, an English translation of the notes in the diary, and I am prepared to provide that if the Court wishes.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Can we have it immediately?  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel Bagosora, can you move to the first page where there is a handwritten indication, which is the (unintelligible).  And I think I will ‑‑ for easy reference, I will give the K numbers of the pages:  K0239524; and the registry's number is in manuscript at 20386.  Are you on that page? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you indicate yourself what is written on it in handwriting? 

A.
Well, there is my name on it:  My first name, my telephone number while I was living at Kiyovu neighbourhood in Kigali. 

Q.
And when did you leave the Kiyovu neighbourhood in Kigali? 

A.
In January 1994. 

Q.
Can you tell us whether that is your writing?  Can you tell us if, in your opinion, what is handwritten, is done by you ‑‑ 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
‑‑ unless you have some comments that you want to make? 

A.
Well, no observations now. 

Q.
Can you move on to the next page, which is K0239525.  That is 20385.  That is a registry number ‑‑ page numbering.  

A.
Yes, I can see it. 

Q.
I would like you, for starters, to tell us what is the date that is written on the top of that document? 

A.
The date is 1st February. 

Q.
Now, if we have to go back, can you tell us if there is a date which might correspond to the 31st of January, for instance? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Do have any explanations as to the fact that you had a diary, if supposedly it is yours, and which begins on the 1st of February of the year? 

A.
Well, diaries like this begin with the beginning of the year. 

Q.
Do you recollect having had a diary in which you started taking notes around the 1st of February? 

A.
No unless ‑‑ unless ‑‑ and this is what I said ‑‑ unless this is a diary that was abandoned somewhere that I wasn't using, and from where I took out some sheets of paper, some pages, on which I could write, and it is in that hypothesis.  Otherwise, when you have a diary, you keep it.  

In any case, even if there was nothing entered in the diary in the month of January, this wouldn't be a reason for me ‑‑ or this wouldn't be a reason for the diary not to be given to me.  That is where my problem lies.  Why am I given what I have written down in February, whereas in January I was in Kigali?  I did not travel.  And that is why I am rather perplexed by the manner in which the diary is given to me.  

I do recognise the notes that I wrote down.  But when those notes are taken out of the agenda which I cannot see, that is where I have a problem.  

Q.
One question before coming back to that page.  Can you move on to K0139542, which is page 20368, following the registry numbering?  

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court and confirm ‑‑ because normally the Judges have the documents before them ‑‑ can you tell which date is found on that page? 

A.
542. 

Q.
Yes. 

A.
The date is the 4th of March and the 5th of March.  

Q.
Now, I would like you to turn the page to the next one.  Can you confirm that it is, indeed, K0239543.  Can you tell us which date is at the top of the page? 

A.
Yes, the date is 1st November. 

Q.
Do you know if there are diaries that go from February to the 1st of November? 

A.
Well, I never had such a diary. 

Q.
Do you have any further comments to make ‑‑ well, I am sorry, I am going to continue.  Now, can you move on to K0239544? 

A.
Yes, I am on the page.
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Can you tell the Chamber whether there is a date on that page? 

A.
I don't see any. 

Q.
Can you move on to the next page, which is K0239545? 

A.
Yes, I'm on it. 

Q.
Can you see a date on it? 

A.
I see the month, but I don't quite see the date, the day.  And the month is November, but I am unable to read the date. 

Q.
Before we start looking into your notes, can you tell us if you have any comments to make on the fact that the RPF disclosed to Madam Des Forges and to the Prosecutor 33 pages representing 33 days of your diary? 

A.
Well, that is intriguing.  I am perplexed by this because I believe that those pages that they didn't want to disclose to me, definitely had exculpatory material therein, and they refused to give me those pages. 

Q.
Now, let's go back to page K0239527 ‑‑ or 25.  

A.
Now, do you mean 39525?  

Q.
Yes, 39525.  Are you on that page?  That is the page ‑‑ 

A.
Well, I can see it. 

Q.
The ‑‑ I think ‑‑ in handwriting there, do you see it? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Can you tell us what it is when you read it?  Thereafter, I will put questions to you thereon? 

A.
"The communal police must be in a position to train its militia in the ‑‑ where necessary, recruit a reservist, non‑commissioned officer, per concerned commune in order to do the training or to provide the training." 

Q.
Question:  From what you think, does this reflect an excerpt of notes from a document? 

A.
What I was able to notice, in general, is that these notes begin with the RPF attack on the 8th of February.  And these are ‑‑ has to do with the attack. 

Q.
Yes.  But, Colonel, the problem that arises is that we hear on the 1st of February that the attack was launched on the 8th of February.  

A.
Precisely.  You can see, for instance, that on the 8th of February, that is, the day on which the attack was launched, nothing is shown there indicating that the attack by the RPF was launched.  We have quite something else there.  

Q.
Well, unless I'm mistaken, Colonel, you don't mention anywhere RPF attack.  

A.
Well, if it was a diary that was kept on a daily basis, I must have written down about the RPF attack on the 8th of February. 

Q.
So what you want to say ‑‑ what you mean is that when something is written 1st of February, on the 2nd, it was written by you, on the 1st and 2nd of February? 

A.
What I must tell the Court is that the notes that I recognise, that I acknowledge, do not correspond to the dates of the so‑called diary.  I'll give you an example.  On the 8th of February, there it is written a curfew in Kigali town.  What this means is that attack took place, and Kigali was so threatened that the curfew had to be imposed.  So the war had already begun.  If we go by my notes, the notes ‑‑ what I wrote on the 8th does not correspond to the date of the 8th.  It corresponds, rather, to a date on ‑‑ that came after the attack by the RPF. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I didn't grasp why the 8th is being introduced in relation to this annotation on the page concerning the 1st.  I take the point that notes may not be on the correct page, but what is the point in introducing the 8th here?  

THE WITNESS:

This is because he talked about it.  He says that the RPF attack was launched on the 8th, and I am saying that if these annotations were the excerpt of a diary that was kept on a daily basis, I should have written ‑‑ on the 8th I should have written down the important events that took place on that day.  What this means is that these are notes or annotations that have nothing to do with a diary that is kept on a daily basis.  That is what I mean.  

JUDGE REDDY: 

But with reference to your entry on the 1st of February, did you not imply or insinuate that that entry might have been made on the 8th or after the 8th of February?  That's how I understood you.  I might be wrong.  

THE WITNESS:

During that period, because on the next page ‑‑ and that is where we will see the ‑‑ under which circumstances I made the entries.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I'm sorry, Judge Reddy's question was specific and pointed.  You didn't address it.  

A.
What I'm saying is that these notes marked on the 1st of May do not correspond to the date of the 1st, just as all the notes that follow do not correspond to dates.  That is what I'm saying.  They are written there, but they ‑‑ what is said therein do not correspond.  For instance, what is written on the date of the 1st does not correspond to what happened on the 1st, just like all the other notes that you're going to see.  Thereafter, we'll have proof to show that the entries do not correspond to the dates of the diary that they are talking to me about and which they don't want to show me.  I'm the one who wrote this.  I do acknowledge that fact.  And I can give explanations thereon. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Was your question answered, Honourable Judge?  

JUDGE REDDY: 

Never mind.  I'll let it pass for the time being.  I ‑‑ I was merely trying to follow up on the President's question as to the reason why you jumped from the 1st to the 8th, because that was prompted by his answer.  And in that answer he seemed to imply or insinuate that the 1st February entry was made on the 8th of February.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Give me a minute.  I don't have the script, so I don't know exactly what is written therein.  I am saying that he moved on to the 8th of February, when he wanted to say that, "If this were my diary, and given what happened on that date, I would have written ‑‑ I would have talked about the RPF attack.  So if I didn't mention that attack, then this is not a diary that is kept as a diary that is written in on a daily basis."  

MR. PRESIDENT:

And the RPF attack took place on which date?  The 1st or the 8th?  

THE WITNESS:

It took place on the 8th.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

But on the 1st annotation there is no reference to the RPF attack, so why cannot what is under the 1st of February relate to the 1st of February?  

THE WITNESS:

I am saying that if this really is a diary, which I cannot see ‑‑ that is where my problem is.  If the diary were there, I would be in a position to see if this is a diary that I used or if I merely took pages from the diary to write thereon without taking into account the dates.  And so probably what mattered to me was the paper on which I needed to write ‑‑ or make notes without taking into account the date.  So if I merely took down notes, whereas it is not a diary as such, I wouldn't need the date in order to take down notes.  

So, Mr. President, if you allow me to continue, you will see that on the 2nd, for instance, and I will show you that ‑‑ that meeting ‑‑ or, rather, what is written therein are things that happened after the 13th February, and I have proof thereof.  What we have on the 2nd and on the 3rd and even on the 4th, I recollect these notes were notes that I took down after the 13th of February.  And I'm going to give explanations thereto.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Well, when I said 1st February, it was to simplify the discussions you read.  What is written on the 1st of February, can you explain those two sentences that you jotted down, that is, the sentences concerning the communal police and the recruitment of reservists or reserve officers by the commune? 

A.
The thing is, that is when security problems started rearing its head in the communes.  Probably it is because somebody talked to me about it that I wrote this down, or probably this was an idea that came from me that I wrote in order not to forget.  But after the RPF attack, there was a security problem that arose in the communes.  So in order to beef up security in the communes, one of the solutions that were appropriate at the time or that was proposed was to strengthen the communal police using a militia, and by militia here I'm talking about supplementary ‑‑ a supplemental police force.  So the militia I'm referring to here, I'm not talking about ‑‑ I'm not referring to Interahamwe.  I'm not talking about anything other than the supplemental police.  Militia in French means many things, but the meaning that I give to that term is supplemental police that would be trained within the commune and that would be coordinated or organised by a reservist if the communal police cannot train them, and the reservist would be the person to train them, and he would be recruited locally.  That is what I jotted down there. 

Q.
One question, Colonel:  In the indictment and in general terms, insofar as the events in Rwanda from April to July 1994 are concerned, the ‑‑ give a rather negative description of the militia.  Now, even if you say that the militia you're referring to here has to do with the supplemental police force and not Interahamwe or other such organisations, what I would like to know is, to your knowledge, from what date did people start talking about militia in Rwanda in the years '90 to '94 ‑‑ in the years '93 to '94? 

A.
Essentially, the term "militia" was seen by me in subsequent reports by human rights leagues, in books.  But in Rwanda, people talked about the Interahamwe youth, Abakombozi, Impuzamugambi.  They were not referred to as militia.  So this a term that was used in literature subsequently.  And the militia I'm referring to here ‑‑ and you can check this in the dictionary in the Robert, for instance ‑‑ what militia means as an additional police force.  As a soldier, this is what I had in mind.  I could have put supplemental police, but that would be wrong, and militia was appropriate, and that is the first word that came to mind. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

There is some lack of clarity here.  After the word Interahamwe, did you then refer to Impuzamugambi?  Was that the reference? 

THE WITNESS:

Yes, I referred to Impuzamugambi. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Did you refer to any other militia in the original French version of your statement, or were these the two references?  We are just trying to clarify the transcripts.  

THE WITNESS:

I don't refer to them as militias.  I refer to them as the youth wings of the parties.  Those were the terms used by the parties.  I also referred to the Abakombozi, A‑B‑A‑K‑O‑Z‑I (sic).

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says the witness. 

THE WITNESS:

Abakombozi is actually A‑B‑A‑K‑O‑M‑B‑O‑Z‑I. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Now, regarding this link between the communal police and what you wrote down, that is, the militia, can you explain it?  

A.
Given that the communal police underwent conventional training to reinforce them quickly in case of war, it was necessary to recruit civilians to be trained quickly, which is what I referred to as complementary police that would reinforce the communal police. 

Q.
Very well.  Regarding the necessity to call on a reservist which appears in the second part of document, what does that mean? 

A.
In case of need, because the communal police may not have a qualified trainer, so if the need arises, a reservist or non‑commissioned officer could be recruited to train the supplementary police. 

Q.
Now, can you move on to the next page.  Logically, it should be K0239526.  And the registry number is 20384.  Are you there? 

A.
Yes, I have it. 

Q.
Can you explain the content of those two pages? 

A.
There are notes that follow each other without any logical sequence.  "Kigali town.  Organise information.  Write to MININTER."  So on and so forth. 

Q.
I'm sorry, Colonel.  Before you go into comments, for better understanding, you have to read what is written.  Then we will move on to the comments.  

A.
Well, it is written 2nd February on the left and 3rd February on the right, and the number is K0239526.  That is for the two pages. 

Q.
What I'm asking you is to read the handwritten notes to the Court.  

A.
Okay.  I'm going to read.  "Kigali town, organise information.  Write to MINITRASO and MININTER.  Kigali.  Mugina.  Nasho?  Control of Magerwa.  Red Cross vehicle.  Elements or criteria for search of warehouses."  And then it begins with Gisenyi, 400 weapons.  Kigali, 300 weapons.  Byumba, 700 weapons.  Ruhengeri, 600 weapons.  And the total, 2,000 weapons.  But for Gisenyi, you have Karago, 100 weapons.  Mutura, 100 weapons.  Rwerere ‑‑ it is written (unintelligible), but it is Rwerere, 100 weapons.  Rubavu, 100 weapons.  And then here you have Kanama, and I believe this is an addition. 

Q.
Colonel, please just continue reading, and then after you will comment.  

A.
Very well.  Now on the right‑hand page:  2,000 people trained in the use ‑‑ or, rather, by FAR.  Plus or minus 500 persons.  Kinyami, Buyoga, Bwisige ‑‑ and these are the names of communes.  You have Gituza, Murama, Muhura, Giti, Rutare, Tumba, Buyoga, Kibari, Kinyami, Rutare, Ngarama, Mbogo, Mugambazi, Tare, Rushashi, Gikomero, Musasa.  And then below that you have Protect and then Gishwati.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

It's a bit difficult now.  Does anyone have an extra copy of this diary, so that it could be placed in front of the court reporters?  

MR. WHITE: 

Yes, we can get that, Mr. President.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

(No interpretation) 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Can counsel start again because his microphone was not switched on.  

MR. WHITE: 

If it please the Court, I also have an English one, if the English court reporter wants that.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The English version is very clear.  That was smart.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

I was not aware of the English version.  I just discovered it, but I would like to point out that the presentation raises a lot of problems, because it is arranged in linear form, and it does not correspond to reality, because when you have a document which does not have the two sides, it will be difficult to understand the document.  But in any case, I believe it can be useful for certain spellings.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  That's the only purpose.  Out of ten spellings now, nine were difficult, so we must assist now.  So if that document could be distributed, just for the spelling, the English.  Yes, please.  Okay, good.  

Let's proceed.  

MR. CONSTANT: 

Very well, Mr. President.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Colonel, before going into details, can you give us an overall explanation of what all these notes mean? 

Please switch on your microphone.  

A.
On this page, that is 2nd and 3rd, I am able to remember that these were notes that I took during the meeting chaired by the minister of defence, James Gasana, upon his return from Arusha.  So this was after the 13th of February 1993.  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
So these are notes from a meeting, according to you? 

A.
Yes, these are notes from a meeting. 

Q.
Now, the notes continue on the 4th and the 5th.  Can you tell us where those ‑‑ these notes end? 

A.
Well, you have the notes on the dates of the 2nd, the 3rd, the 4th, and 5th.  

Q.
Very well.  Now, going into the details, can you refer to the left and explain what Nasho means, N‑A‑S‑H‑O? 

A.
Nasho is a place in Kibungo préfecture.  There is a question mark.  This means that this place was mentioned and that there was a problem in that area, but I do not remember exactly what the issue was.  

Q.
Do you know or do you have any idea what the second line refers to, that is, "organise information"? 

A.
We were in the middle of a war, and it was necessary to organise information so as to inform.  That is what it meant, that is, to better inform the members of the population, as well as the authorities.  
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Very well.  "Write to MINITRASO and MININTER."  MINITRASO, is that ministry of interior?

A.
It is the ministry of labour and social affairs.  

Q.
And who was the minister at that time? 

A.
It was Landouald Ndasingwa. 

Q.
And who was the MININTER? 

A.
Faustin Munyazesa. 

Q.
Why is it that it was necessary to write to them? 

A.
I believe that there was a problem of refugees because many people had been driven away from their property and they had to be taken care of.  

Q.
After that you have the names of three towns.  What does that refer to?  

A.
Well, you have Kigali.  These are notes that I took during a meeting, and I was not the rapporteur of that meeting.  These are my own notes, which were not to be used for any subsequent report.  So I was just writing down things.  I wrote down Kigali, Mugina.  There was a reason why I wrote down Kigali and Mugina just like that. 

Q.
And after Nasho, you have two sentence fragments, perhaps even three.  Can you tell us what these refer to?  

A.
I frankly do not remember. 

Q.
There is mention of Magerwa.  What is Magerwa? 

A.
It is Magasins généraux du Rwanda, or general Rwandan warehouses. 

Q.
Is that a public organisation? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
And now there is a mention of a vehicle of the Red Cross? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
What does that refer to? 

A.
I do not remember. 

Q.
Very well.  Now, you have the second part where there is a dash and then names of towns and then figures.  Can you explain?  

A.
I have told you that this was in the course of a meeting.  This was a meeting presided over by the minister of defence and which was attended by a representative or representatives of MININTER, that is, the interior ministry, as well as the préfet ‑‑ or, rather, the préfets of Ruhengeri and Byumba, I believe.  I was also present, together with the adviser of the minister of defence and the chief of staff of the army, who was, of course, accompanied by one or two officers from his general staff. 

Q.
Can you tell us who it was?  You talked about the adviser of the minister of defence.  

A.
It was Ndengeyinka, Balthazar, who was the chief of staff.  It was Colonel Déogratias Nsabimana.

Q.
Ndengeyinka, N‑D‑E‑N‑G‑A‑Y‑I‑K‑E (sic).  

And you said that the chief of staff was accompanied by whom?  

A.
His G4. 

Q.
And who was the G4? 

A.
He was called Augustin somebody.  I can't remember the name, but I think it will come back to me. 

Q.
Very well.  Can you explain the references to the names of the communes and the figures? 

A.
I beg your pardon?  

Q.
The names of the communes featured there and the figures.  What does this refer to? 

A.
During this meeting that the préfecture ‑‑ it was agreed that the préfectures of Gisenyi, Kigali, Byumba, and Ruhengeri should receive weapons for their communes.  

Q.
Can you explain to us ‑‑ Karago, Mutura, Rwerere, and Rubavu communes?  What are they? 

A.
These are the communes of Gisenyi. 

Q.
And what about the Byumba, Kigali, and Ruhengeri communes that were supposed to receive weapons?  

A.
For Byumba, these are the communes that I read there on the right, but there is also part of Ruhengeri ‑‑ or, rather, Kigali.  

Q.
I'm sorry.  You're going too fast, and we are not getting everything.  You are saying on the right, that is, for the third? 

A.
Yes.  To the right.  That is under the 3rd.  You have the Byumba communes, that is, the Mbogo ‑‑ those that begin with Mbogo to Musasa are not in Byumba; otherwise, all the other communes on that part of the page belong to Byumba préfecture.  

Q.
So you have the communes of Gisenyi and Byumba.  And then Mbogo and the names that follow, what do they refer to? 

A.
Those are the communes of Kigali. 

Q.
Now, where are the Ruhengeri communes? 

A.
On the next page. 

Q.
And where is that? 

A.
On the 4th, at the bottom, where it is underlined, you have Kigombe, Cyabingo, Mukingo, Nkuli, Nyakinama, and Nyarutovu.  

Q.
And the figures opposite those names, what are they, that is, on the 2nd? 

A.
The figure against Gisenyi, you can see 400 weapons; opposite Kigali, you have 300; so that is 300 weapons.  Byumba, 700; then Ruhengeri, 600.  When you add them all up, you have a total of 2,000 weapons. 

Q.
So that there should be no misunderstanding "BYB" stands for Byumba; is that correct?  

A.
Yes.  

Q.
And "RUH" stands for Ruhengeri? 

A.
Yes.  

Q.
Now, can you tell us why you have details for the Gisenyi commune but you don't have any details regarding the weapons for the Byumba, Kigali, and Ruhengeri préfectures?  

A.
We spoke about that.  But the Gisenyi préfet was not there, so the préfecture of Gisenyi was not represented.  And it was necessary to determine the number of weapons to be sent there in their absence, and so we had to identify the communes that had to be reinforced in weapons. 

Q.
Now, to conclude on the communes, during that meeting, why were those four préfectures chosen?  

A.
It was because of the threat of the RPF war.  Those were the communes under the greatest threat from RPF attacks in February 1993.  Those were the communes that were the most threatened at the time that we were holding this meeting.  

Q.
Very well.  In the file folder there are maps, and I wanted to have them shown to you.  But it is better to use the overhead projector. 

MR. CONSTANT:

Mr. President, my problem is as follows:  It is five minutes to 5 p.m.  I do not know what we should do.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

The exercise we are doing now requires attention, and we have been going on for a long day.  I think it's better to continue tomorrow.  

MR. CONSTANT:

Very well.  I am not going to say no, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

All right.  

So then the court is adjourned until tomorrow morning at 8:45. 
(Court adjourned at 1657H)
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